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i 

 
QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 
1. Whether the New Hampshire Supreme Court’s 
statement that it was addressing a motion to sup-
press evidence under the State of New Hampshire 
Constitution, and relying on federal law only for 
guidance, insulates the decision from scrutiny by this 
Court under Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 1040-
41 (1983), when its opinion relies heavily on opinions 
issued by this Court and the federal circuit courts of 
appeals.  

2. Whether the defendant was in custody, for pur-
poses of Miranda v. Arizona, where he was allowed to 
walk around outside during the interview, where he 
was told that he was not under arrest, and where the 
only restriction placed on his movements was that the 
police officers declined to walk into the woods with 
him because of concerns for their safety.  
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PARTIES TO THE PROCEEDING 

 
 The Petitioner is the State of New Hampshire. 
The Respondent is Timothy McKenna. There are no 
other parties to this proceeding. 
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OPINIONS BELOW 

 The opinion of the New Hampshire Supreme 
Court in this matter filed on September 9, 2014, is 
reported as State v. Timothy McKenna, ___ N.H. ___ 
(2014), 2014 N.H. LEXIS 104 (App. 1)1 

 The opinion of the Superior Court of Rockingham 
County, New Hampshire, denying the motion to 
suppress is unreported. (App. 60). 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

JURISDICTION 

 This petition for certiorari is filed within ninety 
days of the New Hampshire Supreme Court’s order 
denying the petitioner’s motion for reconsideration. 
App. 74. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1257(a). 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION INVOLVED 

 The Fifth Amendment to the United States 
Constitution provides as follows: 

No person shall be held to answer for a capi-
tal, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a 
presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury, 
except in cases arising in the land or naval 

 
 1 “App.___” refers to the appendix to this petition and page 
number. 
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forces, or in the Militia, when in actual ser-
vice in time of War or public danger; nor 
shall any person be subject for the same of-
fence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or 
limb; nor shall be compelled in any criminal 
case to be a witness against himself, nor be 
deprived of life, liberty, or property, without 
due process of law; nor shall private property 
be taken for public use, without just compen-
sation. 

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Confession 

 The defendant was convicted of six counts of 
aggravated felonious sexual assault involving a minor 
child. N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 632-A:2 (2007). App. 1, 3. 
The evidence introduced by the State included admis-
sions made by the defendant that he had engaged in 
oral sex with the victim.  

 The defendant’s confession took place after he 
was interviewed for approximately one hour. App. 5. 
Two police officers, accompanied by a New Hampshire 
state trooper, went to a campground and restaurant 
owned by the defendant. App. 2. The trooper, who 
was dressed in his State Police uniform and armed, 
found the defendant and asked that he speak to the 
two police officers. App. 2. The police officers, who 
waited outside the restaurant, wore jackets with the 
town police badge and their names embroidered on 
the front. App. 2. Although they were armed, their 
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firearms were concealed by their jackets. App. 2. The 
officers had an arrest warrant in their possession, 
and they intended to execute the warrant, unless the 
defendant provided them with information “that 
established that he could not have committed the 
crime – for example, if the defendant had evidence 
that he had been outside of the country during the 
alleged incidents.” App. 2. One of the officers testified 
that he “was looking to elicit a confession from the 
defendant.” App. 3. 

 When the defendant went outside to talk to the 
officers, one of them told him that “the subject that 
they intended to discuss was private.” App. 3. The 
officer “suggested that they sit in the [officers’] un-
marked Ford Expedition because the outside temper-
ature was thirty-five degrees and the officers were 
not dressed for the outdoors.” App. 3. The defendant 
was “hesitant, and asked whether they could walk 
and talk instead.” App. 3. The officers agreed, and the 
two officers and the defendant began walking. The 
trooper returned to his cruiser, but he was able to 
watch the three of them as they walked in the nearby 
clearing. App. 3.  

 The officers told the defendant that they wanted 
to discuss his sexual molestation of the victim. App. 3. 
The defendant responded that he “did not remember 
that.” App. 3. One of the officers showed him a picture 
of the victim, in response to which the defendant 
remembered her as a “cute girl.” App. 3 (internal 
quotation marks omitted). The officer then “told the 
defendant that he was not under arrest, and that the 
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officers had come to see him because they wanted to 
get his side of the story.” App. 3. When the officers 
said that they were from Newmarket, the defendant 
“looked very nervous and was shaking even harder, so 
[the officer] asked him whether he was cold.” App. 3-
4. The defendant “responded that he was not cold, as 
he had just been working.” App. 4.  

 The defendant and officers walked to different 
parts of the clearing as they were talking. App. 4. 
When the defendant began to walk into the woods, 
one officer said: “Hold it Tim, we’re not walking out 
there. I don’t want to leave the sight of the trooper.” 
App. 4 (internal quotation marks omitted). At the 
suppression hearing, one officer testified that “he did 
not want to go into the woods because neither he nor 
[the second officer] was dressed to walk in the woods, 
the officers did not know the area, and they did not 
have any radio communications.” App. 31 (Lynn, J., 
dissenting).  

 The defendant did not answer, but stopped 
walking toward the woods. App. 4. When the defen-
dant walked to his truck to get more cigarettes, the 
officers again followed him. App. 4. He sat in the 
driver’s seat of the truck “with his feet hanging out of 
the open door.” App. 4. The officers stood outside his 
truck and continued asking him questions. App. 4.  

 The two officers and the defendant “spoke in a 
conversational tone.” App. 4. The defendant “never 
unequivocally denied molesting [the victim]; however, 
he denied having an ‘inappropriate relationship’ with 
her, and repeatedly told the officers that he did not 
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remember molesting [the victim].” App. 4. The de-
fendant asked the officers questions about their 
investigation. App. 4. The officers told the defendant 
more than once that they did not believe him and 
encouraged him to tell the truth. App. 4. The defen-
dant was “chain smoking, and at one point his 
breathing became shallow.” App. 5. 

 After approximately one hour of questioning, one 
officer asked the defendant if he had “an emotional 
relationship with [the victim].” App. 5. When the 
defendant denied it, one officer said, “You just wanted 
to come.” App. 5. The defendant “nodded his head and 
responded, ‘Yes, that was probably it.’ ” App. 5. One 
officer then asked if the defendant had engaged in 
oral sex with the victim and the defendant admitted 
that he had. App. 5. He then made “additional incrim-
inating statements.” App. 5. After making these 
admissions, the police followed him into the restau-
rant, where he spoke to his girlfriend, and, shortly 
thereafter, he was arrested. App. 5.  

 
B. The New Hampshire Supreme Court’s 

Opinion 

 The New Hampshire Supreme Court reached a 
conclusion that the defendant was in custody at the 
time that he confessed and that the officers failed to 
advise him of his Miranda rights. The state court 
relied on four factors: “(1) the alleged ‘restraints’ 
placed upon the defendant during the questioning; 
(2) the fact that the interview was initiated by the  
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police, rather than by the defendant; (3) the fact that, 
although the defendant was told several times that 
he was not under arrest, he was not also advised that 
he was free to terminate the interrogation; and (4) 
the accusatory nature of the questioning.” App. 34 
(Lynn, J., dissenting).  

 Despite the fact that the officers told the defen-
dant that he was not under arrest and only declined 
to walk with him when he started toward the woods, 
the New Hampshire Supreme Court wrote that “the 
officers . . . intervened to prevent the defendant from 
freely moving about his property.” App. 11. It also 
acknowledged that one officer testified that he was 
not going to allow the defendant to leave his sight, 
but that this intention was never conveyed to the 
defendant. App. 10. Nevertheless, the New Hamp-
shire Supreme Court weighed the officers’ unex-
pressed intent as a factor in determining that custody 
existed. In that regard, the court ignored this Court’s 
rulings to the contrary. See Stansbury v. California, 
511 U.S. 318, 323-24 (1994).  

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
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REASONS TO GRANT THE PETITION 

I. The New Hampshire Supreme Court’s 
Statement That It Was Addressing An Ex-
clusionary Rule Claim Under The State 
Constitution Does Not Insulate The Deci-
sion From Scrutiny By This Court Under 
Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 1040-41 
(1983), Because It Relied On Opinions Is-
sued By This Court. 

 Although the New Hampshire Supreme Court 
stated that it was deciding this case under the New 
Hampshire Constitution, its opinion undercuts that 
assertion. As this Court stated in Michigan v. Long, 
463 U.S. 1032, 1040-41 (1983):  

[W]hen, as in this case, a state court decision 
fairly appears to rest primarily on federal 
law, or to be interwoven with the federal law, 
and when the adequacy and independence of 
any possible state law ground is not clear 
from the face of the opinion, we will accept as 
the most reasonable explanation that the 
state court decided the case the way it did 
because it believed that federal law required 
it to do so. If a state court chooses merely to 
rely on federal precedents as it would on the 
precedents of all other jurisdictions, then it 
need only make clear by a plain statement in 
its judgment or opinion that the federal cases 
are being used only for the purpose of guid-
ance, and do not themselves compel the re-
sult that the court has reached. 
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Although the state court contended that it was citing 
federal opinions only for guidance, the opinion relied 
heavily on cases decided by this Court, as well as 
those decided by the United States Circuit Courts of 
Appeals. In that regard, this Court’s comment in 
California v. Beheler, 463 U.S. 1121, 1123 n.1 (1983) 
(per curiam), is instructive. In Beheler, this Court 
observed that it “[was] clear from the face of the 
opinion . . . that the opinion below rested exclusively 
on the court’s decision on the Miranda issue.” Id. 
(internal quotation marks omitted). This Court 
continued that, although the California court had 
relied “in part” on a state court decision, “that deci-
sion applie[d] Miranda.” Id. This Court concluded 
that the California decision was, therefore, subject to 
review. Id.  

 This Court’s statement in Beheler applies equally 
here. Although the state court wrote that it was 
relying on state court opinions, each of those opinions 
is the progeny of this Court’s rulings. For example, 
in State v. Gribble, 165 N.H. 1, 66 A.3d 1194 (2013), 
the state court reached its conclusions by applying 
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 473-74 (1963), as 
well as Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, 101-04 
(1975); see also State v. Jennings, 155 N.H. 768, 772, 
929 A.2d 982 (2007) (“Custody entitling a defendant 
to Miranda protections requires formal arrest or 
restraint on freedom of movement to the degree 
associated with formal arrest.” (quoted in McKenna, 
App. 7.)); State v. Locke, 149 N.H. 1, 3, 813 A.2d 1182, 
1188 (2002) (citing Miranda) (App. 13); State v. 
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Hammond, 144 N.H. 401, 403, 742 A.2d 532, 535 
(1999) (same) (App. 13); State v. Johnson, 140 N.H. 
573, 575, 669 A.2d 222, 226 (1995) (same) (App. 13).  

 In addition, the opinion cited State v. Dedrick, 
132 N.H. 218, 225, 564 A.2d 423, 427 (1989), see App. 
9, however the Dedrick decision was decided as a 
matter of federal law because the appellant had 
argued only federal cases in its appeal. Indeed, the 
Dedrick decision cited this Court’s rulings in Califor-
nia v. Beheler, 463 U.S. 1121, 1125 (1983) (per 
curiam); Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 495 
(1977) (per curiam); and Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 
U.S. 420, 422 (1984). Dedrick, 132 N.H. at 224, 564 
A.2d at 427.  

 The state court’s custody analysis also relied on 
several federal circuit court cases, each time misap-
prehending their significance. This is particularly 
true in its discussion of the degree of restraint placed 
on the defendant, a section which relied entirely upon 
federal cases. App. 9-14. Because the degree of re-
straint analysis was the linchpin of the state court’s 
decision, its reliance on federal case law invites this 
Court’s scrutiny. 

 For example, it cited United States v. Mittel-
Carey, 493 F.3d 36, 40 (1st Cir. 2007), in which offic-
ers entered the defendant’s home in the early morn-
ing to execute a search warrant. The state court also 
relied on United States v. Griffin, 922 F.2d 1343 (8th 
Cir. 1990), in the analysis of the officer’s concern for 
safety as the defendant started toward the woods. For 
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the proposition that telling a defendant that he was 
not under arrest weighed in favor of finding that no 
custody existed, the state court turned to United 
States v. Salvo, 133 F.3d 943, 951 (6th Cir. 1998). And 
it cited United States v. Colonna, 511 F.3d 431, 435-36 
(4th Cir. 2007) to find that the interrogation was 
custodial. Addressing the character of the interroga-
tion, the state court again turned to federal prece-
dent, citing United States v. Wauneka, 770 F.2d 1434, 
1439 (9th Cir. 1985). App. 16. Further, the opinion 
reveals no state law ground which is independent 
from the federal precedent cited. 

 In short, although the state court stated that it 
was relying on federal cases only for guidance, the 
assertion rings hollow. Just as the California court 
did in Beheler, the New Hampshire Supreme Court 
relied extensively upon federal precedent, and, with 
respect to the degree of restraint analysis, it relied 
exclusively on federal precedent. As demonstrated in 
section II, the state court misconstrued that prece-
dent. As a result, this Court has jurisdiction to review 
the application of those federal cases.  

 
II. The New Hampshire Supreme Court’s Opin-

ion Misapplies This Court’s Precedents.  

 Custodial interrogation is “questioning initiated 
by law enforcement officers after a person has been 
taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his 
freedom of action in any significant way.” Miranda, 
384 U.S. at 444. This Court has concluded that “ques-
tioning and the nature of custodial surroundings 
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produce an inherently coercive situation.” 
Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 247 (1973). 
It has characterized custodial interrogation as the 
“inherently compelling pressures which work to 
undermine the individual’s will to resist and to com-
pel him to speak where he would not otherwise do so 
freely.” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 467. For an interroga-
tion to be custodial, a person must have been “taken 
into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of 
action in any significant way.” Id. at 444. In contrast, 
a non-custodial interview of a person, even if the 
person is a subject or a target of an investigation, 
“does not present the elements which the Miranda 
Court found so inherently coercive as to require its 
holding.” Beckwith v. United States, 425 U.S. 341, 347 
(1976).  

 The police are required to give Miranda warnings 
only “where there has been such a restriction on a 
person’s freedom as to render him ‘in custody.’ ” 
Mathiason, 429 U.S. at 495. “The initial determina-
tion of custody depends on the objective circumstanc-
es of the interrogation, not on the subjective views 
harbored by either the interrogating officers or the 
person being questioned.” Stansbury, 511 U.S. at 323. 

 In finding that the defendant was in custody for 
purposes of Miranda, the state court has misapplied 
this Court’s precedents.  

 For example, the New Hampshire Supreme 
Court phrased the question presented by quoting this 
Court’s phrasing in Thompson v. Keohane, 516 U.S. 
99, 113 (1995). See App. 8. Yet, having acknowledged 
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that standard, it reached a conclusion that is 
unsupported by this Court’s legal analysis. It noted 
that the standard was the reasonable person stan-
dard, but then turned to the police officer’s 
unconveyed intentions to conclude that custody 
existed. See App. 10-11 (“[The officer] knew that he 
was not going to allow the defendant to leave his 
sight. Although [the officer] did not verbally disclose 
his intent to the defendant, his actions . . . would 
have conveyed to a reasonable person the reality that 
the officers did not intend to allow the defendant to 
leave their sight.”).  

 In this case, the defendant was told that he was 
not under arrest. He chose the location of the inter-
view and decided to sit in his truck and smoke. The 
only restriction placed on the defendant’s movement 
was that he was told that the officers did not want to 
walk into the woods, but wished to remain in the 
sight of the trooper. The defendant was allowed to go 
to his truck for cigarettes. Although the police officers 
were skeptical of his denials, they did not raise their 
voices. Indeed, the New Hampshire Supreme Court 
characterized the conversation as “polite.” App. 21. 
The state court placed undue weight on the fact that 
the officers did not believe the defendant, ignoring 
this Court’s admonition that Miranda warnings are 
not required “simply because . . . the questioned 
person is the one whom the police suspect.” 
Mathiason, 429 U.S. at 495.  

 The state court also placed weight on the fact 
that the officers had driven some distance to interview 
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the defendant. App. 22. Two points bear mentioning 
here. First, the court’s reliance on this factor demon-
strates that it was misapplying this Court’s well-
established precedent. The court inferred from the 
fact that the officers had traveled from Newmarket 
that this defendant would have concluded that the 
length of time that it took for them to travel to meet 
him heightened the seriousness of the investigation. 
While this defendant may have reached this conclu-
sion – although there is nothing on the record to 
support that inference – the state court misapplied 
this Court’s standard. See Stansbury, 511 U.S. at 323 
(the determination of custody does not depend on the 
“subjective views” of the person being questioned).  

 Second, the state court’s reliance on the officers’ 
travel time further misconstrues this Court’s prece-
dent. Nowhere in this Court’s jurisprudence has the 
length of time to arrive at the place of the interview 
been a consideration in finding that a custodial 
interrogation has taken place. Indeed, if that were 
the case, Miranda warnings would be required in 
virtually every investigation conducted in large, less 
populated states. The purpose of the Miranda deci-
sion was to deter improper police behavior. See Dick-
erson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 438 (2000) 
(noting that this Court has “repeatedly referred to the 
Miranda warnings as ‘prophylactic’ ” (quoting New 
York v. Quarles, 467 U.S. 649, 653 (1984)). If the 
purpose of the Miranda decision is to deter the police, 
then the New Hampshire Supreme Court committed 
error when it relied on the distance officers must 
travel in order to investigate crimes. Unlike the other 
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considerations in suppression issues, distance is a 
factor over which the officers had no control. As a 
result, it should not have been used to determine the 
constitutionality of their actions.  

 The state court started by saying that the ques-
tioning was “qualitatively different from questioning 
during an investigatory traffic stop.” App. 14. The 
court then inferred that the length of travel time 
made this defendant feel as if he were not free to 
leave. To illustrate the point, the court then cited this 
Court’s opinion in Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 
(1984). The implication was that this Court would 
have determined that custody existed because of the 
length of questioning, as well as the length of the 
trip, in contrast to a brief encounter between a motor-
ist and an officer.  

 But this comparison is ill-founded. While the 
Berkemer Court did discuss the relative brevity of a 
traffic stop, it did so in the context of comparing it to 
a stationhouse interrogation. See Berkemer, 468 U.S. 
at 437 (“[Q]uestioning incident to an ordinary traffic 
stop is quite different from stationhouse interroga-
tion, which frequently is prolonged, and in which the 
detainee often is aware that questioning will continue 
until he provides his interrogators the answers they 
seek.”).  

 Berkemer is, therefore, easily distinguishable. 
While one officer testified that he hoped to elicit a 
confession, that intent was never conveyed to the 
defendant. The questioning took place outside in an 
open field free of the coerciveness of an in-station 
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interview. There was nothing on this record that 
suggested that the questioning would continue until 
the police exacted a confession. Indeed, the fact that 
the officers had already obtained a warrant for the 
defendant’s arrest strongly suggests otherwise. See 
App. 2.  

 A review of the facts in Oregon v. Mathiason and 
California v. Beheler is illustrative. In Mathiason, the 
officer met the defendant at the stationhouse doorway 
after making several attempts to contact him. 
Mathiason, 429 U.S. at 493. As in this case, the 
defendant was told that he was not under arrest, but, 
unlike this case, the defendant was brought into an 
office and the officer closed the door. Id. The officer 
not only told the defendant that he was investigating 
a burglary, he told him that the police suspected him 
and that they had found his fingerprints at the scene. 
Id. After the defendant confessed, the officer gave him 
his rights pursuant to Miranda. This Court found 
that the defendant’s constitutional rights had not 
been violated. Id. at 494. This Court reasoned that 
there was no custody “in the absence of any formal 
arrest or restraint on freedom of movement.” Id. The 
fact that the questioning took place in a “coercive 
environment” did not transform the questioning into 
a custodial interrogation. Id. (internal quotation 
marks omitted).  

 In Beheler, 463 U.S. at 1122, the questioning 
again took place at the police station. Beheler, 463 
U.S. at 1122. The police told the defendant that he 
was not under arrest. Id. The defendant had been 
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drinking and was “emotionally distraught.” Id. at 
1125. The police had a great deal of information 
implicating the defendant in the murder. Id. In 
concluding that the defendant was not in custody for 
purposes of Miranda, this Court reiterated its conclu-
sion in Mathiason that Miranda warnings are not 
required “simply because the questioned person is 
one whom the police suspect.” Id. at 1125 (quoting 
Mathiason, 429 U.S. at 495) (internal quotation 
marks omitted).  

 In this case, two officers questioned the defen-
dant. App. 2-3. Neither officer displayed a weapon. 
App. 2. The record reflects no physical touching of the 
defendant and, as noted earlier, the state court 
acknowledged that the tone of the discussion was 
“polite.” App. 21. Although a trooper was in his cruis-
er, he had no involvement in the questioning. These 
circumstances demonstrate much less restraint than 
was present in either Mathiason or Beheler, cases in 
which this Court found no custody. In short, the New 
Hampshire Supreme Court misapplied this Court’s 
rulings.  

 The federal courts of appeals cases cited by the 
state court are similarly unsupportive. For example, 
in Mittel-Carey, 493 F.3d at 40, the United States 
Court of Appeals for the First Circuit upheld the 
suppression of the defendant’s statements on the 
grounds that the search and interrogation had taken 
place at 6:25 a.m., eight officers were present, the 
defendant had been “confronted with an unholstered 
gun in his darkened bedroom,” the interrogation had 
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lasted for up to two hours, and “physical control [was] 
maintained over the defendant at all times.” Id. The 
court noted that “the coercive statements made by the 
interrogating agent . . . seemed designed to elicit 
cooperation while carefully avoiding giving the de-
fendant Miranda warnings.” Although the case was 
clearly distinguishable from the facts presented here, 
the state court cited it in support of a finding that the 
officers “similarly” accompanied the defendant wher-
ever he walked on his property. App. 10. 

 It relied on Griffin, 922 F.2d at 1350, to find in 
favor of custody. One of the police officers testified 
that he did not want to go into the woods for safety 
reasons, but because this was not conveyed to the 
defendant, it weighed in favor of a finding of custody. 
App. 11. This reliance, however, ignored the factors 
applied in Griffin, including “whether the suspect 
was informed at the time of questioning that the 
questioning was voluntary, that the suspect was free 
to leave or request the officers to do so, or that the 
suspect was not considered under arrest.” Griffin, 922 
F.3d at 1349 (emphasis added). Because the officers 
here told the defendant that he was not under arrest, 
the state court’s reliance on Griffin was misplaced.  

 The state court cited the Salvo opinion for the 
proposition that simply informing a person that he is 
not under arrest does not mean that he is not in 
custody, but then attempted to distinguish this case 
on that ground. However, it failed to recognize the 
obvious parallels between that case and the one 
before it. In Salvo, the court noted that the interviews 
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had taken place in the defendant’s dormitory and in a 
Burger King parking lot, which it noted could “hardly 
be said to be hostile or coercive environments.” Id. at 
950-51. The Salvo court concluded that the defendant 
“selected the locations for the interviews, which 
indicates he felt comfortable with them.” Id. at 951. 
Although the defendant in this case selected the 
location of the interview, which was a cleared lot, the 
state court still found that the interrogation was 
custodial, despite the holding in Salvo.  

 Instead of following the Salvo decision, the court 
relied on the easily distinguishable holding in the 
Colonna opinion to find that the interrogation was 
custodial. App. 12. In Colonna, twenty-four agents of 
the Federal Bureau of Investigation descended on the 
defendant’s house in order to execute a search war-
rant. Id. at 433. It was 6:29 a.m. and the defendant 
and his parents were asleep. Id. The agents “went 
upstairs and kicked open Colonna’s bedroom door. At 
gun point, the agents ordered Colonna to dress and 
come downstairs.” Id. They then “escorted” him to the 
living area. Id. When the defendant’s mother “at-
tempted to smoke a cigarette, an agent told her that 
she could not smoke in the house and would not be 
allowed to return if she went outside.” Id. The subse-
quent interrogation lasted for three hours. Id. at 435. 
The agent’s assurance to the defendant that he was 
not under arrest in those circumstances was insuffi-
cient to counter the conclusion that a reasonable 
person would not have felt free to leave. Id. at 435-36.  
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Despite the readily distinguishable facts, the state 
court cited Colonna to support its finding that “simp-
ly stating to a suspect that he is ‘not under arrest’ ” 
did not “end the inquiry into whether the suspect was 
‘in custody’ during an interrogation.” Id. at 435.  

 The state court cited Wauneka, 770 F.2d at 1439, 
for the proposition that a defendant was in custody 
when questioning continued for over an hour and 
“turned accusatory.” Id. Again, the state court misap-
plied this federal precedent. In Wauneka, the defen-
dant was transported by the police to the station 
house. Id. at 1437. The officers told the defendant 
that he knew things that only the perpetrator could 
know. Id. During a break in the questioning, one of 
the investigators “warned” the defendant that “he 
could get fifteen years for lying to the FBI.” Id. Ac-
cording to the opinion, the defendant “broke down 
and cried.” Id. When the interview resumed, the 
agents “spoke at some length of the seriousness of the 
crimes, [and] the adverse impact on the community.” 
Id. In short, the agents both threatened the defend-
ant and attempted to make him feel guilty. Here, the 
officers did neither. To the contrary, the officers 
expressed their skepticism and encouraged him to tell 
the truth without emphasizing the youthfulness of, or 
harm to, his victim, nor did they mention the poten-
tial consequences of his crimes. 

 On the point of police-initiated questioning, the 
state court again turned to Griffin, 922 F.2d at 1351, 
for the proposition that police-initiated questioning is 
a factor in favor of a finding that an interrogation 
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was custodial. While Griffin does, indeed, consider 
that factor, the facts of Griffin distinguish the case. In 
Griffin, “[n]either of the agents informed Griffin that 
he was not under arrest.” Id. (emphasis added).  

 Although the court acknowledged that, under 
Miranda, it was “require[d]” to “analyze the totality 
of the circumstances,” App. 24, it analyzed the factors 
in isolation, and took language from federal cases out 
of context, in order to support its analysis. The end 
result is that the New Hampshire Supreme Court 
misapplied the decisions of the federal courts with 
respect to custody.  

 This is particularly significant when the purpose 
of the Miranda ruling is considered. The ruling gives 
essential guidance to law enforcement. As this Court 
observed in Fare v. Michael C., 442 U.S. 707, 718 
(1979): 

Miranda’s holding has the virtue of inform-
ing police and prosecutors with specificity as 
to what they may do in conducting custodial 
interrogation, and of informing courts under 
what circumstances statements obtained 
during such interrogation are not admissible. 
This gain in specificity, which benefits the 
accused and the State alike, has been 
thought to outweigh the burdens that the de-
cision in Miranda imposes on law enforce-
ment agencies and the courts by requiring 
the suppression of trustworthy and highly 
probative evidence even though the confes-
sion might be voluntary under traditional 
Fifth Amendment analysis. 
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The state court’s finding of custody in this case un-
dermines the “gain in specificity” that these decisions 
have offered.  

 In sum, the state court’s opinion misconstrued 
this Court’s well-established precedents concerning 
the Miranda warning and custodial interrogation. 
The contention that the state court was relying on the 
New Hampshire Constitution in reaching its result is 
contradicted by the precedent on which it relied and 
the absence of any enunciated independent state 
ground.  

---------------------------------  --------------------------------- 
 

CONCLUSION 

 The petition for a writ of certiorari should be 
granted.  

Respectfully submitted, 

JOSEPH A. FOSTER 
New Hampshire Attorney General 

ELIZABETH C. WOODCOCK 
 Counsel of Record 
Assistant Attorney General 
CRIMINAL JUSTICE BUREAU 
33 Capitol Street 
Concord, NH 03301-6397 
Phone: (603) 271-3671 
Elizabeth.Woodcock@doj.nh.gov 

STEPHEN D. FULLER 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 



App. 1 

THE SUPREME COURT OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Rockingham 
No. 2013-009 

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE  

v. 

TIMOTHY MCKENNA 

Argued: November 21, 2013 
Opinion Issued: September 9, 2014 

 Joseph A. Foster, attorney general (Elizabeth C. 
Woodcock, assistant attorney general, on the brief 
and orally), for the State. 

 Andrew F. Cotrupi, of Hampton, by brief and 
orally, and Samdperil & Welsh, PLLC, of Exeter 
(Richard E. Samdperil on the brief), for the defen-
dant. 

 BASSETT, J. Following a jury trial in Superior 
Court (McHugh, J.), the defendant, Timothy McKenna, 
was convicted of six counts of aggravated felonious 
sexual assault. RSA 632-A:2 (2007). Prior to trial, the 
defendant moved to suppress his statements to the 
police on the ground that he was subject to a cus-
todial interrogation without being informed of his 
Miranda rights. See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 
436 (1966). After an evidentiary hearing, the Superior 
Court (Delker, J.) denied the motion. The defendant 
appeals the trial court’s denial of his motion to sup-
press. We reverse and remand. 
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 The following facts are drawn from the trial 
court’s order or from uncontroverted testimony at the 
pretrial suppression hearing. In October 2010, the 
Newmarket Police Department received a report that 
K.L. had been sexually abused by the defendant ap-
proximately nine to fourteen years earlier. Lieutenant 
Kyle True and Sergeant Tara Laurent investigated 
the allegations and obtained a warrant for the defen-
dant’s arrest. On October 22, 2010, True and Laurent, 
accompanied by New Hampshire State Trooper Rella, 
drove in two vehicles – one fully-marked State Police 
cruiser and one unmarked Ford Expedition – to a 
campground and restaurant owned by the defendant 
in Errol. The restaurant is located at the end of a one-
eighth mile driveway and is not visible from the road. 
The driveway ends in a large clearing, surrounded by 
woods, which includes a one-acre field where the 
parking lot and restaurant are located. 

 Rella, dressed in his State Police uniform and 
armed with his service weapon, sought out the de-
fendant to request that he speak to the officers. The 
Newmarket officers waited outside the restaurant. 
They wore jackets with the Newmarket police badge 
and their names embroidered on the front. Although 
both Newmarket officers were also armed, their jack-
ets covered their weapons. The officers had an arrest 
warrant in their possession, and it was their intention 
to arrest the defendant that day, unless the defen- 
dant provided the officers information that established 
that he could not have committed the crime – for 
example, if the defendant had evidence that he had 
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been outside of the country during the alleged inci-
dents. True testified that he was looking to elicit a 
confession from the defendant. 

 Rella and the defendant met with the two offic-
ers. True then asked the defendant to speak with him 
and Laurent without either the defendant’s girlfriend 
or Rella present. True explained that the subject that 
they intended to discuss was private. He suggested 
that they sit in the unmarked Ford Expedition be-
cause the outside temperature was thirty-five degrees 
and the officers were not dressed for the outdoors. 
Laurent testified that the defendant was hesitant, 
and asked whether they could walk and talk instead. 
The officers agreed, and the two officers and the de-
fendant began walking. Laurent testified that Rella 
and the defendant’s girlfriend walked in the opposite 
direction. Rella then returned to his cruiser, which 
he had parked in a location from which he was able 
to watch the defendant, True, and Laurent as they 
walked in the clearing. 

 The officers began by informing the defendant 
that they were there to “discuss [him] molesting 
[K.L.].” The defendant responded by saying that he 
“did not remember that.” Laurent then pulled out a 
picture of K.L. and showed it to the defendant. The 
defendant said he remembered her and that she was 
a “cute girl.” Laurent told the defendant that he was 
not under arrest, and that the officers had come to 
see him because they wanted to get his side of the 
story. Laurent noticed that the defendant began to 
shake when the officers said that they were from 
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Newmarket, and that as they spoke, he looked very 
nervous and was shaking even harder, so she asked 
him whether he was cold. The defendant responded 
that he was not cold, as he had just been working. 
The interrogation continued. 

 For approximately one hour and fifteen minutes, 
the defendant walked to different parts of the clear-
ing, and the officers followed him. They did not allow 
the defendant to leave Rella’s line of sight. At one 
point, when the defendant began to walk into the 
woods, True said: “Hold it Tim, we’re not walking out 
there. I don’t want to leave the sight of the trooper.” 
Although the defendant did not verbally respond, he 
stopped walking into the woods and changed direc-
tion. The officers continued to follow the defendant 
and ask questions. When the defendant walked to his 
truck to get more cigarettes, the officers again fol-
lowed him. While he sat in the driver’s seat of the 
truck with his feet hanging out of the open door, the 
officers stood outside the vehicle and continued the 
questioning. 

 The two officers and the defendant spoke in a 
conversational tone. The defendant never unequivo-
cally denied molesting K.L.; however, he denied hav-
ing an “inappropriate relationship” with her, and 
repeatedly told the officers that he did not remember 
molesting K.L. The defendant often responded to the 
officers with questions of his own about the investiga-
tion. On multiple occasions during the interrogation, 
the officers told the defendant that they did not 
believe him, urging him to tell the truth. Many of the 
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questions asked by the officers were premised upon 
the assumption that the defendant was guilty. The 
officers also posited numerous reasons as to why the 
defendant might have committed the crime – that he 
was emotionally attached to K.L., that he was sex-
ually attracted to her, or that he wanted to hurt her. 
The defendant continued to shake as the interroga-
tion continued. He was chain smoking, and at one 
point his breathing became shallow. 

 There is no evidence in the record that before or 
during the interrogation the defendant was told that 
he was free to leave the property or informed of his 
Miranda rights. Nor is there evidence that the of-
ficers informed him that he was free to ask them to 
leave the property, or that he was not required to 
answer their questions. 

 After approximately one hour of questioning, 
Laurent asked whether the defendant had had an 
emotional relationship with K.L. The defendant de-
nied it. True then said, “You just wanted to come.” 
The defendant nodded his head and responded, “Yes, 
that was probably it.” True then asked if the de-
fendant had had oral sex with K.L. The defendant 
responded, “Yes.” He thereafter made additional in-
criminating statements. After the defendant made 
these admissions, the police accompanied him into 
the restaurant, where he spoke to his girlfriend. 
Shortly thereafter, he was arrested. 

 Prior to trial, the defendant moved to suppress 
his statements, arguing that the officers violated his 
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rights under both the New Hampshire and United 
States Constitutions by subjecting him to a custodial 
interrogation without informing him of his Miranda 
rights. Following an evidentiary hearing during which 
the only witnesses were the two Newmarket officers, 
the trial court denied the defendant’s motion. The 
court concluded that the defendant was not in cus-
tody as he “was familiar with his surroundings, there 
were only two officers present, and the defendant was 
not physically restrained.” The court stated that the 
“type of freedom afforded the defendant during the 
interview bears none of the hallmarks of a formal 
arrest.” After a three-day jury trial, the defendant 
was convicted of six counts of aggravated felonious 
sexual assault. This appeal followed. 

 On appeal, the defendant argues that his rights 
under Part I, Article 15 of the New Hampshire Con-
stitution and the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the 
United States Constitution were violated. Specifically, 
he contends that the trial court erred in not suppress-
ing his statements because, given that a reasonable 
person in his position would have believed himself to 
be in custody, the police should have advised him of 
his rights under Miranda. 

 We first address the defendant’s claim under the 
State Constitution and rely upon federal law only 
to aid in our analysis. State v. Ball, 124 N.H. 226, 
231-33 (1983). Before the defendant’s responses made 
during a custodial interrogation may be used as 
evidence against him, the “State must prove, be- 
yond a reasonable doubt, that it did not violate [his] 
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constitutional rights under Miranda.” State v. Gribble, 
165 N.H. 1, 10 (2013); cf. State v. Rathbun, 132 N.H. 
28, 30 (1989) (ruling State’s burden to demonstrate 
defendant’s statement was spontaneous, and thus 
outside Miranda’s ambit, subject to preponderance 
standard). Compare State v. Lantagne, 165 N.H. ___, 
___, 83 A.3d 397, 399 (2013) (explaining State bears 
burden on motion to suppress), with, e.g., United 
States v. Davis, 792 F.2d 1299, 1309 (5th Cir. 1986) 
(stating that the defendant “had the burden of prov-
ing that he was under arrest or in custody”). Here, it 
is undisputed that the defendant was interrogated, 
and that he did not receive Miranda warnings; ac-
cordingly, the sole issue before us is whether that 
interrogation was custodial. 

 “Custody entitling a defendant to Miranda pro-
tections requires formal arrest or restraint on free-
dom of movement of the degree associated with 
formal arrest.” State v. Jennings, 155 N.H. 768, 772 
(2007) (quotation omitted). “In the absence of formal 
arrest, we must determine whether a suspect’s free-
dom of movement was sufficiently curtailed by con-
sidering how a reasonable person in the suspect’s 
position would have understood the situation.” Id. 
“The location of questioning is not, by itself, determi-
native: a defendant may be in custody in his own 
home but not in custody at a police station.” Id. 
(quotation omitted). “To determine whether a reason-
able person in the defendant’s position would believe 
himself in custody, the trial court should consider the 
totality of the circumstances of the encounter,” id. 
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(quotation omitted), “including, but not limited to, 
factors such as the number of officers present, the de-
gree to which the suspect was physically restrained, 
the interview’s duration and character, and the sus-
pect’s familiarity with his surroundings.” Id. at 773. 

 For purposes of appellate review, the trial court’s 
findings of historical facts relevant to the question 
of custody, that is, its determinations of “what hap-
pened,” are entitled to the deference we normally 
accord its factual findings. State v. Ford, 144 N.H. 57, 
62 (1999) (quotation omitted). Because the ultimate 
determination of custody requires an application of a 
legal standard to historical facts, it is not merely a 
factual question but a mixed question of law and fact. 
Id. In a custody analysis, “the crucial question entails 
an evaluation made after determination of the histor-
ical facts: if encountered by a ‘reasonable person,’ 
would the identified circumstances add up to custody 
as defined in Miranda?” Id. at 63 (quoting Thompson 
v Keohane, 516 U.S. 99, 113 (1995)) (brackets omit-
ted). The trier of fact is not in an appreciably better 
position than we are to answer that question. Id. 
Therefore, although we will not overturn the factual 
findings unless they are contrary to the manifest 
weight of the evidence, we review the ultimate de-
termination of custody de novo. Id. 

 Here, the trial court’s findings of historical facts 
relating to custody are not in dispute: the material 
facts are based upon the uncontroverted testimony 
of the two Newmarket officers. Moreover, neither 
party challenges the trial court’s underlying factual 
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findings. Accordingly, in our custody analysis we 
accept and rely upon the historical facts as set forth 
in the suppression order. 

 We begin by observing that our analysis of 
whether a defendant was in custody during police 
interrogation is rarely based upon a static set of 
circumstances. Interrogations are fluid: What may 
begin as noncustodial questioning may evolve over 
time into custodial questioning. See, e.g., State v. 
Dedrick, 132 N.H. 218, 225 (1989), abrogated on other 
grounds by Ford, 144 N.H. at 62-63 and State v. 
Spencer, 149 N.H. 622, 625 (2003). 

 A number of factors must be balanced in de-
termining whether, and at what point, a defendant 
was in custody during police interrogation. See, e.g., 
Jennings, 155 N.H. at 772, 773. Here, we first exam-
ine the degree to which the officers restrained the 
defendant’s movement. As we observed in Jennings, 
the lack of handcuffs or similar devices is not disposi-
tive, see id. at 773; indeed, effective restrictions on a 
defendant’s movement can be a product of verbal, 
psychological, or situational restraint. See United 
States v. Beraun-Panez, 812 F.2d 578, 580 (9th Cir.) 
(“Although not physically bound, [the suspect] was 
subjected to psychological restraints just as bind-
ing.”), modified, 830 F.2d 127 (1987). This is so be-
cause the “likely effect on a suspect of being placed 
under guard during questioning, or told to remain in 
the sight of interrogating officials, is to associate 
these restraints with a formal arrest.” United States 
v. Griffin, 922 F.2d 1343, 1350-51 (8th Cir. 1990); see 
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id. at 1354 (finding defendant’s freedom restrained to 
degree associated with formal arrest because “he was 
accompanied by an officer when he retrieved ciga-
rettes from other rooms in [his home] and was told to 
remain in view of the agents at all times”); cf. United 
States v. Hughes, 640 F.3d 428, 436 (1st Cir. 2011) 
(finding no custody when officers escorted defendant 
outside to smoke a cigarette, but did not limit his 
movement, and “defendant was not unduly intim-
idated by the interrogating officers,” as shown by his 
pausing during cigarette break). 

 In United States v. Mittel-Carey, the First Circuit 
Court of Appeals concluded that the level of control 
that the officers exercised over the defendant during 
the interrogation conducted at the defendant’s home 
carried the most weight in its custody analysis – 
officers ordered the defendant to dress and go down-
stairs, told him where to sit, and followed the defen-
dant on the three occasions that he was permitted to 
move within his home. United States v. Mittel-Carey, 
493 F.3d 36, 40 (1st Cir. 2007). The court explained 
that this factor weighed heavily in favor of custody, 
despite the defendant’s familiarity with the surround-
ings. Id. Here, similarly, the officers accompanied the 
defendant wherever he walked around his property. 
True agreed that, from the moment that the officers 
first spoke with the defendant, True knew that he 
was not going to allow the defendant to leave his 
sight. Although True did not verbally disclose his 
intent to the defendant, his actions – following the 
defendant everywhere he walked, including when he 
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went to his truck to get more cigarettes – would have 
conveyed to a reasonable person the reality that the 
officers did not intend to allow the defendant to leave 
their sight. See Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 318, 
325 (1994) (“An officer’s knowledge or beliefs may 
bear upon the custody issue if they are conveyed, by 
word or deed, to the individual being questioned.”). 

 Moreover, the officers also intervened to prevent 
the defendant from freely moving about his property. 
When he began walking into the woods, True said, 
“Hold it Tim, we’re not walking out there. I don’t 
want to leave the sight of the trooper.” Through- 
out the interrogation, the officers and the defendant 
stayed within forty to fifty yards of Rella, and the 
defendant was aware of Rella’s presence. Although 
the defendant was generally determining the direc-
tion of the perambulation, as the trial court found, 
“the officers did not allow the defendant to enter the 
woods, or leave Trooper Rella’s line-of-sight.” 

 True’s testimony that the reason that the defen-
dant was told not to enter the woods was officer 
safety does not impact our analysis: “[I]t is often the 
case that suspects are escorted or chaperoned during 
questioning for reasons unrelated to custody,” includ-
ing for safety reasons, but “the relevant inquiry is the 
effect on the suspect.” Griffin, 922 F.2d at 1350 (quota-
tion omitted). Compare id. at 1354, with United 
States v. Lifshitz, No. 03 Cr. 572 (LAP), 2004 U.S. 
Dist. LEXIS 18571, at *21-22 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 15, 2004) 
(finding no custody despite restrictions on defendant 
because agent specifically explained to defendant that 
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restrictions were for safety reasons). In Griffin, the 
court noted that, although the officers may have 
escorted the defendant from room to room for safety 
reasons, that purpose was not disclosed to the defen-
dant, and, therefore, did not influence the analysis. 
Griffin, 922 F.2d at 1354. Similarly, here, although 
the officers may have had safety concerns, because 
those concerns were never communicated to the de-
fendant, they do not influence our analysis of custody. 

 Custody for Miranda purposes can arise because 
of a formal arrest or the functional equivalent of ar-
rest; accordingly, the fact that a suspect is not “under 
arrest” does not preclude a finding of custody. See, 
e.g., Jennings, 155 N.H. at 772, 775-76 (defendant 
was in custody despite not being under arrest). Nor is 
a statement to a suspect that he is not under arrest 
sufficient, by itself, to establish a lack of custody. 
Although such a statement generally weighs in favor 
of a finding of non-custody, see, e.g., United States v. 
Salvo, 133 F.3d 943, 951 (6th Cir. 1998), it is not dis-
positive; rather it is but one factor to be weighed in 
the custody analysis. 

 Given that informing the defendant that he is not 
under arrest does not end the custody inquiry, we also 
consider the fact that there is no evidence that the 
defendant was informed that he was free to terminate 
the interrogation. See United States v. Colonna, 511 
F.3d 431, 435-36 (4th Cir. 2007) (finding that al-
though the defendant was told that he “was not under 
arrest,” which weighed in favor of a conclusion of no 
custody, the defendant was in custody, in part because 
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he “was never told that he was free to leave or that he 
did not have to respond to questions”); see also United 
States v. Griffin, 7 F.3d 1512, 1518 (10th Cir. 1993) 
(“[T]he extent to which the suspect is made aware 
that he or she is free to refrain from answering ques-
tions or to end the interview at will often defines the 
custodial setting. . . . Conversely, the lack of a police 
advisement that the suspect is at liberty to decline to 
answer questions or free to leave is a significant 
indication of a custodial detention.” (citations omit-
ted)). Indeed, our cases reflect that we have consis-
tently regarded as a significant factor in our custody 
analysis whether a suspect is informed that he or she 
is at liberty to terminate the interrogation. See State 
v. Locke, 149 N.H. 1, 7 (2002) (“Given the repeated 
advice that he was free to leave, we conclude that a 
reasonable person in the defendant’s position would 
not believe that he was restrained to the degree 
associated with formal arrest.”); State v. Hammond, 
144 N.H. 401, 404 (1999) (finding no custody, based, 
in part, upon fact that officers informed the defendant 
several times that he was not under arrest and that 
he was free to leave at any time); State v. Johnson, 
140 N.H. 573, 578 (1995) (finding no custody, in part, 
based upon fact that trooper informed defendant he 
was free to leave). 

 Here, the question is whether the restraint on 
the defendant’s movement was akin to a formal ar-
rest. Consequently, whether the defendant was told 
that he was at liberty to terminate the interrogation 
provides strong evidence as to whether a reasonable 
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person in the defendant’s position would feel free to 
leave. Thus, notwithstanding the fact that the de-
fendant was told that he was not under arrest, the 
lack of evidence that he was told he was free to ter-
minate the interrogation supports a finding of cus-
tody at some point during the interrogation. 

 The State relies upon State v. Turmel, 150 N.H. 
377 (2003), arguing as follows: In Turmel we found 
no custody despite concluding that the defendant’s 
movements had been curtailed; in this case, because 
the defendant’s movements were never curtailed, a 
fortiori, he was not in custody. We disagree. 

 In Turmel, we distinguished an investigatory 
traffic stop, during which the police may temporarily 
seize a suspect for a period no longer than is neces-
sary to confirm or dispel an officer’s suspicions of 
criminal conduct, from the “restraint on freedom of 
movement of the degree associated with formal ar-
rest” that entitles a suspect to Miranda warnings. 
Turmel, 150 N.H. at 382-83. We cited Berkemer v. 
McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 (1984), and observed that 
during an investigatory traffic stop, a suspect may be 
temporarily in custody and not free to leave, yet 
Miranda warnings are not required. Id. at 383. In 
Berkemer, the Supreme Court explained that tempo-
rary custody during an investigatory traffic stop does 
not require Miranda warnings because the detention 
of a motorist is presumptively temporary and brief 
and is typically public. Berkemer, 468 U.S. at 437-38. 
In Turmel, the defendant was “not detained for an un-
duly long period of time” and was “being held within 
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the confines of a valid investigatory stop.” Turmel, 
150 N.H. at 385. We concluded that, at the time that 
the defendant made the incriminating statement, 
“immediately after he got out of his car,” id., the stop 
had not “ ‘metamorphosed’ into the functional equiva-
lent of arrest for Miranda purposes.” Id. at 384-85. 

 Here, the nature of the defendant’s interrogation 
was qualitatively different from questioning during 
an investigatory traffic stop; accordingly, the cases 
relating to traffic stops and allowing temporary cus-
tody without Miranda warnings are of limited ap-
plication. We observe that from the outset of the 
encounter in this case, the circumstances differed 
significantly from a typical traffic stop: the officers 
told the defendant that they had traveled from New-
market – approximately three hours away by car – to 
speak to him about a “private” matter. Cf. Berkemer, 
468 U.S. at 437 (detained motorist’s expectation of 
interview limited in both time and potential penalty). 
For more than one hour the defendant was ques-
tioned about events that had occurred nine to four-
teen years earlier. Unlike in Turmel, where “[t]he 
officers’ purpose was to confirm or dispel the suspi-
cion that the defendant possessed marijuana,” Turmel, 
150 N.H. at 384, here, the officers were, as True 
acknowledged, “looking to extract a confession.” Cf. 
id. at 383 (explaining that scope of an investigatory 
stop “must be carefully tailored to its underlying jus-
tification – to confirm or to dispel the officer’s particu-
lar suspicion”). In short, the circumstances in this 
case are distinguishable from an investigatory traffic 
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stop. Accordingly, the restraints that the officers 
placed on the defendant’s movement, at least from 
the point at which the officers did not allow the de-
fendant to enter the woods or leave Rella’s line of 
sight, are a significant factor weighing in favor of an 
ultimate finding of custody. 

 We next turn to the character of the inter-
rogation. See Jennings, 155 N.H. at 775 (nature of 
interrogation is important factor in custody determi-
nation). In our analysis, we consider the presence or 
absence of both accusatory questions and accusatory 
statements made during questioning. The accusatory 
nature of questioning is widely recognized as a factor 
weighing in favor of a finding of police custody. See, 
e.g., People v. Henry, 980 N.Y.S.2d 594, 596 (App. Div. 
2014) (explaining that a factor in custody determina-
tion is “whether the questioning was accusatory or 
investigatory” (quotation omitted)); see also White v. 
United States, 68 A.3d 271, 281 (D.C. 2013) (“Ques-
tions that are inquisitorial in nature are likely to 
make an encounter with police more coercive.”); State 
v. Dailey, 273 S.W.3d 94, 103 (Tenn. 2009) (weighing 
in favor of custody that “[t]he character of the ques-
tioning was accusatory and demanding, aimed at 
convincing the Defendant that the police already had 
sufficient evidence to convict him of murdering the 
victim and that he had to give them an explanation”). 
Accusatory questioning often conveys an officer’s be-
lief in the defendant’s guilt and the officer’s intent to 
arrest. See United States v. Wauneka, 770 F.2d 1434, 
1439 (9th Cir. 1985) (concluding defendant was in 
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custody when, inter alia questioning continued for 
over an hour and turned accusatory); Ross v. State, 45 
So. 3d 403, 415-16 (Fla. 2010) (finding questioning 
“highly confrontational and accusatorial,” and weigh-
ing in favor of custody fact that “[t]he detective re-
peatedly told Ross that he knew Ross committed the 
crime and the only question remaining was why”). 

 Consistent with this widely accepted approach, 
we have repeatedly recognized the importance of the 
absence or presence of accusatory questioning in our 
analysis of custody, contrasting accusatory question-
ing, which weighs in favor of custody, with question-
ing of a purely general nature, which supports a 
determination of no custody. See State v. Steimel, 155 
N.H. 141, 146 (2007) (observing that officer’s con-
fronting defendant with suspicions constituted a “rel-
evant factor,” but concluding no custody because 
confrontation “occurred near the end of an otherwise 
general and casual conversation”); cf. State v. Graca, 
142 N.H. 670, 671, 675 (1998) (concluding no custody, 
in part, when questioning was of a “purely general 
nature,” concerning defendant’s identity and reason 
for being in park); State v. Green, 133 N.H. 249, 258 
(1990) (finding no custody, in part because police did 
not accuse defendant of involvement in crimes for 
which he was later charged); State v. Tucker, 131 
N.H. 526, 529 (1989) (finding no custody, in part, 
when officer questioned defendant in connection with 
general investigation of airplane accident and de-
fendant was not focus of investigation). In State v. 
Dedrick, we upheld the trial court’s determination of 
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custody after it “discerned a sea change in the tenor 
and character of Dedrick’s interview,” which “would 
have signaled [to] a reasonable man in the same 
circumstances that the freedom officers had accorded 
him earlier was no longer available and that, as often 
as he made denials, they would renew their accusa-
tions until, in the end, he either confessed or asked, 
as Dedrick in fact did, to speak with an attorney.” 
Dedrick, 132 N.H. at 225. That “sea change” stemmed 
from the officers’ questioning: Where the defendant 
had previously been “answering general questions 
about his background and activities,” the shift oc-
curred when he was “accused of untruths and con-
fronted with damning information,” and, “despite his 
vehement denials,” the officers insisted that he had 
committed the crime. Id.  

 Here, as in the latter stages of the Dedrick in-
terrogation, the officers employed accusatory ques-
tioning. True acknowledged that the purpose of the 
questioning was to “extract a confession.” The officers 
agreed at the suppression hearing that their ques-
tions were premised upon the assumption that the 
defendant had committed the crime. On numerous 
occasions throughout the interrogation the officers 
asked the defendant why he had sexually abused K.L. 
and posited reasons for his actions. They asked the 
defendant if he had a sexual relationship with or 
molested another child at daycare. Moreover, we find 
significant that both officers agreed that, during an 
encounter lasting more than one hour, “the subject 
matter stayed the same,” and “there really wasn’t 
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any other conversation, other than regarding [K.L.].” 
Thus, the accusatory nature of the questioning of the 
defendant is a significant factor weighing in favor of a 
finding of custody. 

 Likewise, accusatory statements made by the 
officers and directed at the defendant also weigh 
in favor of custody. See Jennings, 155 N.H. at 774 
(weighing in favor of custody that officers repeatedly 
confronted defendant with their belief that victim 
was telling truth); Dedrick, 132 N.H. at 225 (weighing 
in favor of custody that defendant was accused of 
untruths and confronted with damning information). 
Although “Miranda warnings are not required simply 
because the person being questioned is one whom the 
police suspect,” Tucker, 131 N.H. at 529 (quotations 
omitted), the officers’ subjective beliefs as to the de-
fendant’s guilt “may become relevant when they are 
communicated to the defendant and affect an objec-
tive determination of whether the defendant would 
feel free to leave.” State v. Muntean, 12 A.3d 518, 528 
(Vt. 2010). Thus, confronting the defendant with 
evidence of guilt weighs in favor of custody: “A rea-
sonable person would not feel at liberty to terminate 
a police interview after being confronted with such 
evidence, as a reasonable person understands that 
the police ordinarily will not set free a suspect when 
there is evidence strongly suggesting that the person 
is guilty of a serious crime.” Id. (quotation omitted); 
see also Ross, 45 So. 3d at 416-17 (factor that weighed 
in favor of finding of custody was that defendant 
was confronted with strong evidence of his guilt); 
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Aguilera-Tovar v. State, 57 A.3d 1084, 1092 (Md. Ct. 
Spec. App. 2012) (“When a suspect is made aware of 
the fact . . . that he is a suspect in a case and is not 
merely being questioned as a witness, that . . . weighs 
in favor of a finding of custody.”); Com. v. Groome, 755 
N.E.2d 1224, 1234 (Mass. 2001) (a factor in custody 
analysis is whether officers have conveyed to person 
being questioned any belief or opinion that that per-
son is a suspect). 

 In Jennings, the police officers repeatedly con-
fronted the defendant with his daughter’s allegations 
of sexual assault, telling him that they were certain 
that the allegations were true. Jennings, 155 N.H. at 
774. In concluding that the defendant was in custody, 
we explained that the control that the police exer-
cised, when combined with the “clear indication that 
the police believed the defendant to be guilty of sex-
ual assault[,] would have signaled to a reasonable 
person that his freedom of movement was curtailed to 
the degree associated with formal arrest.” Id. 

 Here, as in Jennings, the defendant was con-
fronted almost immediately – and throughout the 
interrogation – with the officers’ express statements 
that they believed him to be guilty of sexual assault. 
See Dedrick, 132 N.H. at 225 (finding custody when, 
despite defendant’s vehement denials, officers stated 
time and again that it was defendant who committed 
the crime). For example, True testified that he began 
the interrogation by stating, “You know we’re here to 
discuss you molesting [K.L.],” after which Laurent 
showed the defendant a picture of K.L. and said, 
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“Yeah, this is the girl we’re here to discuss you mo-
lesting.” The officers acknowledged that they had told 
the defendant “repeatedly, that [they] believed, [that 
he] had committed aggravated, felonious sexual as-
sault against a child,” that they “knew everything . . . 
about his relationship with [K.L.],” that they knew 
that he did it and that they believed that it happened. 
Both officers told the defendant that they did not 
believe him, and Laurent testified that they admon-
ished the defendant an estimated fifteen times to “tell 
the truth.” The officers’ repeated statements to the 
defendant that they believed that he was guilty weigh 
in favor of custody. 

 Our conclusion that the accusatory questioning 
and statements weigh in favor of custody is not 
inconsistent with the trial court’s findings that “the 
character of the encounter was not fueled by hostility 
or animus,” and that the officers were polite and did 
not raise their voices. See, e.g., Dailey, 273 S.W.3d at 
103 (concluding defendant was in custody and that 
questioning was accusatory although the officers’ 
“tone of voice and general demeanor were conversa-
tional”). Neither the absence of hostility on the part of 
the officers, nor the polite tone of the interrogation, 
neutralizes the content or import of the accusatory 
questions and statements, nor diminishes the weight 
which we accord to them. In sum, we find that the 
accusatory questioning and accusatory statements 
employed by the interrogating police officers each 
independently weigh in favor of a finding of custody, 
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and further, that concurrently they strongly support 
such a finding. 

 Also relevant to our assessment of the character 
of the interrogation is the fact that the police initi-
ated the contact with the defendant. When “confron-
tation between the suspect and the criminal justice 
system is instigated at the direction of law enforce-
ment authorities, rather than the suspect, custody is 
more likely to exist.” Griffin, 922 F.2d at 1351; see 
State v. Hieu Tran, 71 A.3d 1201, 1207 (Vt. 2012); cf. 
Hammond, 144 N.H. at 404 (finding relevant to no 
custody determination that defendant drove himself 
to police station and at end of questioning was al-
lowed to go home); State v. Carroll, 138 N.H. 687, 
696-97 (1994) (explaining relevant to no custody find-
ing that defendant requested interview, drove himself 
to the interview, and on prior day had requested and 
received permission to leave). Here, not only did the 
police initiate the contact, but the defendant was 
aware that the officers traveled from Newmarket to 
confront him, and they were accompanied by a State 
Trooper. We find that this factor also weighs in favor 
of a finding of custody. 

 We do not mean to suggest that all of the cir-
cumstances surrounding the interrogation decisively 
weigh in favor of a finding of custody; in fact, this is 
a close case. Some factors, standing alone, weigh 
against a finding of custody, or are at most neutral 
considerations. For example, as we discussed earlier, 
the fact that the defendant was told that he was 
not under arrest supports a finding of no custody. In 
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regard to the number of officers involved, we agree 
with the State that, in isolation, the involvement of 
only two officers in the interrogation would weigh 
against custody. However, Rella’s presence in his 
marked cruiser during the interrogation contributed 
to a police-controlled atmosphere, and largely neu-
tralizes this factor. 

 We recognize that a defendant’s familiarity with 
his surroundings, taken in isolation, often weighs 
against a finding of custody. See Hughes, 640 F.3d at 
435-36. However, as we observed in Jennings, “[t]he 
location of questioning is not, by itself, determinative: 
a defendant may be in custody in his own home but 
not in custody at a police station.” Jennings, 155 N.H. 
at 772 (quotation omitted). We note that other courts 
have found an interrogation custodial notwithstand-
ing the fact that the defendant was questioned in 
familiar surroundings. See, e.g., Mittel-Carey, 493 
F.3d at 40 (“While an interrogation in a defendant’s 
residence, without more, certainly weighs against a 
finding of custody, . . . the level of physical control the 
agents exercised over [the defendant] in this case 
weighs heavily in the opposite direction, despite the 
fact that the control was exercised inside defendant’s 
home.” (citation omitted)); Sprosty v. Buchler, 79 F.3d 
635, 641 (7th Cir. 1996) (“More important than the 
familiarity of the surroundings where [the defendant] 
was being held is the degree to which the police 
dominated the scene.”). On balance, here this factor 
weighs slightly against a finding of custody. 
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 Finally, we conclude that the length of the in-
terrogation in this case, approximately one hour 
and fifteen minutes, weighs neither in favor of, nor 
against, a finding of custody. See, e.g., Mittel-Carey, 
493 F.3d at 40 (length of interrogation of ninety 
minutes to two hours supported finding of custody); 
Jennings, 155 N.H. at 774 (“nearly two hours” of 
questioning supported conclusion of custody); State v. 
Goupil, 154 N.H. 208, 226 (2006) (finding no custody 
when interview lasted less than fifteen minutes); 
Locke, 149 N.H. at 6 (three and a half hours not ex-
cessive and no custody); State v. Dorval, 144 N.H. 
455, 456-57 (1999) (interview of three hours “rela-
tively short” and no custody); Johnson, 140 N.H. at 
578 (finding no custody, in part, when questioning 
lasted approximately ten minutes). 

 The determination as to whether the defendant 
is in custody for purposes of Miranda requires us 
to analyze the totality of the circumstances, and not 
to rely on any single factor in isolation. See Jennings, 
155 N.H. at 772. “Custody should not be a mystical 
concept to any law enforcement agency. We see no 
reason why doubts as to the presence or absence of 
custody should not be resolved in favor of provid- 
ing criminal suspects with the simple expedient of 
Miranda warnings.” Griffin, 922 F.2d at 1356. “Effec-
tive law enforcement is not frustrated when police 
inform suspects of their rights.” Id. “Such practices 
protect the integrity of the criminal justice system 
by assuring that convictions obtained by means of 
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confessions do not violate fundamental constitutional 
principles.” Id. 

 After considering the “totality of the circum-
stances of the encounter,” Jennings, 155 N.H. at 772 
(quotation omitted), and balancing all of the relevant 
factors, we hold that the defendant was in custody for 
the purposes of Miranda no later than when the 
officers prevented him from entering the woods. We 
conclude that, at least by that point, a reasonable 
person in the defendant’s position would have under-
stood he was effectively under arrest. The officers had 
accompanied the defendant wherever he went on his 
property, and, when the defendant tried to enter the 
woods, True instructed him not to do so. Further, the 
officers did not allow the defendant to leave the sight 
of the State Trooper who was monitoring the interro-
gation from a marked cruiser. Although the defendant 
was informed that he was not under arrest, there is 
no evidence that the officers ever informed the de-
fendant that he was free to terminate the interroga-
tion. In addition, we accord substantial weight to the 
fact that the officers’ questions were accusatory and 
focused on the defendant’s alleged criminal activity. 
For more than an hour, through their use of ac-
cusatory statements and questions, the officers re-
peatedly conveyed their belief in the defendant’s 
guilt. Accordingly, pursuant to Part I, Article 15 of 
the New Hampshire Constitution, any incriminating 
statements made by the defendant after True’s in-
struction not to enter the woods must be suppressed. 
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 At the same time, based on the record before us, 
we conclude that the defendant was not yet in cus-
tody for the purposes of Miranda at the beginning of 
the encounter. Accordingly, the defendant’s initial 
responses to the officers that he “did not remember 
that,” and that K.L. was a “cute girl,” need not be 
suppressed. 

 As to the interrogation that occurred between the 
defendant’s initial responses and True’s instruction to 
him not to enter the woods, the record is unclear 
regarding the sequence of events – specifically, the 
interrelationship between the actions and question-
ing of the police and the statements made by the 
defendant. Thus, we are unable to determine as a 
matter of law that the interrogation was noncustodial 
prior to True’s instructions. Accordingly, we remand 
for the trial court to make specific findings and rul-
ings regarding the admissibility of any incriminating 
statements made by the defendant after his initial 
responses, and before True’s instruction not to enter 
the woods. 

 “Because the defendant prevails under the State 
Constitution, we need not address his claim under 
the Federal Constitution.” Jennings, 155 N.H. at 776. 

Reversed and remanded. 
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 HICKS and CONBOY, JJ., concurred; LYNN, J., 
with whom DALIANIS, C.J., joined, dissented. 

 LYNN, J., dissenting. Contrary to the majority, I 
do not regard this as “a close case.” In my view, based 
on the facts and the law, the defendant clearly was 
not in custody at any time until the officers placed 
him under arrest at the end of the interview. As the 
discussion below demonstrates, the majority does not 
cite, nor has my research revealed, any case in which 
an appellate court has overturned a trial court find-
ing that an interrogation was not custodial in factual 
circumstances that are in any way reasonably analo-
gous to those presented here. 

 Under well-settled law, although we review de 
novo a trial court’s ultimate legal conclusion as to 
whether a defendant was in custody when interro-
gated, we are required to accept the court’s under-
lying factual findings unless they are unsupported 
by the record or clearly erroneous. See, e.g., State v. 
Jennings, 155 N.H. 768, 772-73 (2007); State v. Ford, 
144 N.H. 57, 62-63 (1999). This deferential standard 
with respect to underlying fact-finding applies not 
only to the trial court’s resolution of credibility issues, 
but also to inferences drawn from the circumstantial 
evidence. As the First Circuit explained in United 
States v. Hughes, 640 F.3d 428, 434 (1st Cir. 2011), 
“when the [trial court] chooses to draw a reasonable 
(though not inevitable) inference from a particu- 
lar combination of facts, that inference is entitled 
to respect.” Id. (quotation omitted). Here the major- 
ity departs from this rule by subtly recasting the 
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underlying facts in a manner that deviates from the 
trial court’s findings or from inferences that are 
supported by the record and that we must assume the 
trial court drew because they support the court’s 
decision. See In the Matter of Aube & Aube, 158 N.H. 
459, 466 (2009) (“We must assume that the trial court 
made subsidiary findings necessary to support its 
general ruling.” (quotation omitted)). In short, in the 
guise of conducting de novo review of the trial court’s 
ultimate legal conclusion that the defendant was not 
in custody, the majority effectively substitutes its 
judgment for that of the trial court as to the under-
lying facts. Because, under the deferential standard 
of review applicable to the trial court’s actual fact-
finding, the majority’s legal conclusion that the de-
fendant was in custody when interrogated deviates 
from our prior precedents and is unsupported by any 
authority, I respectfully dissent. 

 
I 

 Based upon the evidence presented at the pre-
trial suppression hearing, the trial court found the 
pertinent facts to be as follows. In October 2010, K.L. 
reported to the Newmarket Police Department that 
she had been sexually abused by the defendant 
approximately nine to fourteen years earlier. At the 
time of the alleged abuse, the defendant was dating 
the woman who ran the Newmarket daycare center 
where the abuse occurred. At the time the abuse 
was reported, the defendant resided in Errol at the 
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Bullmoose campground and restaurant, which he also 
owned and operated. 

 Lieutenant Kyle True and Sergeant Tara Laurent 
began investigating the allegations against the de-
fendant and, based upon their investigation, obtained 
a warrant for his arrest. On October 22, 2010, True 
and Laurent met New Hampshire State Trooper Rella 
in Colebrook and followed him to the Bullmoose to 
interview the defendant. Rella drove his fully-marked 
State Police cruiser, while True and Laurent drove in 
an unmarked police vehicle. Upon arriving at the 
Bullmoose, the officers drove up a long driveway that 
opened into a large, one-acre clearing where the 
parking lot and restaurant were located. The clearing 
was surrounded by trees. The officers parked their 
cars in the lot, and Rella, dressed in his full State 
Police uniform, which included his visible sidearm, 
entered the restaurant and spoke to the defendant’s 
girlfriend, who directed Rella to another building 
where the defendant was working. The defendant and 
Rella walked to the parking lot, where True and 
Laurent were waiting. True and Laurent each wore 
a dark jacket with the Newmarket Police badge 
and their names embroidered on the front, but were 
otherwise not in uniform and bore no other visible 
police insignias. Both officers were armed, but their 
weapons were covered by their jackets and were not 
visible. Rella introduced the defendant to the two 
Newmarket officers and they all shook hands. 

 True asked the defendant if he and Laurent 
could speak to him without his girlfriend (who had 
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approached the officers) or Rella present, as they 
wanted to discuss a private matter. True suggested 
that he, Laurent, and the defendant sit in the New-
market officers’ vehicle, as it was around thirty-five 
degrees outside and he and Laurent were not dressed 
for the outdoors. The defendant, who was dressed 
for the weather, instead asked whether the three 
could walk and talk. The officers agreed, and Rella 
returned to his cruiser, where he remained for the 
duration of the interview. 

 The officers followed the defendant’s lead as he 
began walking around the large open area surround-
ing the restaurant. As the three began walking, the 
officers said they wanted to talk to the defendant 
about his having molested K.L. Laurent told the 
defendant that he was not under arrest – and re-
peated this statement two or three times throughout 
the interview – and that the officers just wanted to 
get his side of the story. When he was first told why 
the officers wanted to speak with him, the defendant 
responded by saying he “did not remember that.” 
When shown a picture of K.L., however, the defen-
dant smiled, stating that he remembered her and 
that she was a cute girl. At this point Laurent noticed 
that the defendant looked very nervous and was 
shaking, and she asked him whether he was cold. The 
defendant responded that he was not cold, as he had 
just been working, and the interview continued. 

 The officers next asked the defendant multiple 
background questions: they confirmed that he lived 
in Newmarket at the time the alleged molestation 
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occurred, and that he dated the woman who ran the 
daycare that K.L. attended during that time period. 
When the officers asked the defendant if he had 
molested other children in Newmarket, the defendant 
was adamant that he had not. At this point in the 
questioning the defendant’s breathing became shal-
low, he continued to shake, and he was chain smok-
ing. 

 During the conversation, the defendant, accom-
panied by the officers, walked to different parts of the 
open field. At one point the defendant began to walk 
into the woods. In response, True said, “Hold it Tim, 
we’re not walking out there. I don’t want to leave the 
sight of the trooper.” At the suppression hearing, True 
testified that he did not want to go into the woods 
because neither he nor Laurent was dressed to walk 
in the woods, the officers did not know the area, and 
they did not have any radio communications. The 
defendant made no verbal response to True’s state-
ment, but simply began walking in another direction. 
At another point during the conversation, the defen-
dant ran out of cigarettes. He walked over to his pick-
up truck, with the officers following, and retrieved 
more cigarettes. Afterward, the defendant sat in the 
driver’s seat of his truck, with his feet hanging out, 
and the officers stood outside the vehicle, where the 
three continued the conversation. 

 The entire conversation with the defendant 
lasted approximately one hour and fifteen minutes. 
During this time, the officers and the defendant 
walked over different parts of the field, covering most 
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of the open ground. Throughout the interview, the 
defendant and the officers spoke back and forth in a 
conversational tone, and the defendant often took 
long pauses to think between answers. Although the 
defendant never unequivocally denied molesting K.L., 
at times he claimed not to remember certain events. 
The defendant often responded to the officers’ ques-
tions with questions of his own about the investiga-
tion. He asked the officers about the people to whom 
the police had talked, in what room the abuse was 
alleged to have occurred, and what evidence the po-
lice had. He said that the officers probably had DNA. 
Sometimes, the officers answered the defendant’s 
questions, and sometimes they declined, telling him 
that they could not disclose the details of the investi-
gation. 

 Although the officers told the defendant several 
times that they did not believe his claims that he 
could not remember certain things and thought he 
was not telling the truth, at no point did the officers 
raise their voices, nor were they confrontational or 
hostile toward the defendant. 

 At one point, Laurent asked the defendant if he 
had an emotional relationship with K.L. The defen-
dant denied this. True then said, “You just wanted 
to come.” The defendant nodded his head and re-
sponded, “Yes, that was probably it.” True then asked 
if the defendant had oral sex with K.L., to which the 
defendant responded, “Yes.” The defendant also ad-
mitted that he had digitally penetrated K.L. and 
had vaginal intercourse with her. At this point, the 
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officers told the defendant that it was good to be 
honest and that they just wanted to hear his version 
of events. The defendant did not offer any more 
details, but said that he regretted his relationship 
with K.L. After the defendant made these admissions, 
the officers allowed him to go into the restaurant to 
speak with his girlfriend and get a soda. Although the 
officers accompanied the defendant into the restau-
rant, they did not place him under arrest until after 
they had left the restaurant. The arrest took place 
out of sight of the restaurant so as not to embarrass 
the defendant in front of the patrons inside the res-
taurant. 

 
II 

 “Custody entitling a person to Miranda protec-
tions during interrogation requires formal arrest or 
restraint on freedom of movement to the degree as-
sociated with formal arrest.” State v. Steimel, 155 
N.H. 141, 144 (2007). The defendant does not contend 
that he had been formally arrested at the time he was 
questioned by the officers. That being the case, the 
trial court was required to determine “whether [the 
defendant’s] freedom of movement was sufficiently 
curtailed [to constitute the equivalent of arrest] by 
considering how a reasonable person in [his] position 
would have understood the situation.” Id. Among the 
factors which are relevant to this determination are 
the suspect’s familiarity with the surroundings where 
the interrogation occurs, the number of officers pre-
sent, the degree to which the suspect was physically 
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restrained, and the interview’s duration and charac-
ter. Id. 

 The trial court determined that the defendant 
was not in custody and explained its reasoning as 
follows: 

The defendant was familiar with his sur-
roundings, there were only two officers pre-
sent, and the defendant was not physically 
restrained. While the encounter lasted be-
tween an hour and an hour and a half, it is 
clear to the Court that the character of the 
encounter was not fueled by hostility or ani-
mus. Rather, the officers allowed the defen-
dant to wander the field, take time to ponder 
in silence, and to get cigarettes and sit in his 
truck. . . . [T]his type of freedom afforded the 
defendant during the interview bears none of 
the hallmarks of a formal arrest. 

 In my view, the trial court’s decision was unques-
tionably correct. In reaching a contrary conclusion, 
the majority relies upon four factors: (1) the alleged 
“restraints” placed upon the defendant during the 
questioning; (2) the fact that the interview was in-
itiated by the police, rather than by the defendant; 
(3) the fact that, although the defendant was told 
several times that he was not under arrest, he was 
not also advised that he was free to terminate the 
interrogation; and (4) the accusatory nature of the 
questioning. With respect to the first factor, the 
majority’s determination that the defendant was 
restrained during questioning is the most obvious 
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example of its substitution of its version of the facts 
for the contrary factual findings of the trial court. As 
to the other factors, although there is no doubt that 
each of them can, in some circumstances, weigh in 
favor of a finding of custody, in this case these factors 
are far outweighed by other factors demonstrating 
that the defendant was not in custody when he was 
questioned. 

 
A 

 The majority asserts that “the officers . . . inter-
vened to prevent the defendant from freely moving 
about his property”; that True agreed that, from the 
moment he encountered the defendant, True knew 
that he was not going to allow the defendant to leave 
his sight; and that although True never conveyed his 
intent to the defendant, “his actions – following the 
defendant everywhere he walked, including when he 
went to his truck to get more cigarettes – would have 
conveyed to a reasonable person the reality that the 
officers did not intend to allow the defendant to leave 
their sight.” But this is not a fair description of the 
nature of the officers’ interaction with the defendant. 
First, when asked if the officers were not going to let 
the defendant leave their sight, True answered, “I 
knew that, yes.” (Emphasis added.) The clear import 
of this answer is that this was what the officers in-
tended. However, as the trial court found, there is no 
evidence that they ever communicated this intent to 
the defendant – the only fact that matters for custody 
purposes. See Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 318, 
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323-24 (1994). Furthermore, although the majority 
emphasizes the point more than once, it also is irrele-
vant that the officers intended to obtain a confession 
from the defendant, because this fact too was never 
communicated to him. 

 More fundamentally, the majority’s description 
completely ignores the trial court’s finding – again, 
amply supported by the record – that the defendant 
“willingly and voluntarily spoke to” the officers; as 
well as the crucial facts that it was the defendant who 
proposed that he and the officers talk while walking 
around his property and that he determined where on 
the property they would go. Given these facts, rather 
than the “following the defendant everywhere” char-
acterization used by the majority, a more accurate 
description of what actually occurred is that the 
defendant led the officers around his property. The 
same “spin” can be found in the majority’s description 
of the defendant going to his truck to get cigarettes. 
Although the officers did accompany him to his truck, 
there is nothing in the record to suggest that in 
retrieving his cigarettes the defendant was intent 
upon trying to separate himself from the officers or 
take a break from the interview.1 Again, from all that 

 
 1 The situation might be different if, for example, there was 
evidence that in seeking to retrieve his cigarettes, the defendant 
said to the officers something like, “I’m going to get a cigarette, 
I’ll be back in a second.” If, despite a statement like this, the of-
ficers nonetheless accompanied the defendant while he gathered 
his cigarettes, such actions arguably would suggest to a reason-
able person that he was not free to disentangle himself from the 

(Continued on following page) 
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appears in the record, the defendant led the officers 
to his truck while continuing his conversation with 
them, and indeed, that is what the trial court found.2 
Given the defendant’s suggestion, and the officers’ 
agreement, that the interview be conducted while the 
trio walked around the defendant’s property, it is 
hard to imagine how else their discussion would have 
occurred other than by the officers accompanying the 
defendant. 

 Here, the interview was conducted in surround-
ings familiar to the defendant: his own home and 
business. “[S]uch a location generally presents a less 
intimidating atmosphere than, say, a police station.” 
Hughes, 640 F.3d at 436; see also United States v. 
Knowles, 2 F. Supp. 2d 1135, 1144 (E.D. Wis. 1998) 
(stating that a Customs Office “does not contain the 
trappings commonly associated with a law enforce-
ment agency, such as uniformed officers milling about 

 
police, even for a moment. See United States v. Cavazos, 668 
F.3d 190, 194 (5th Cir. 2012) (noting that the defendant was 
monitored when he used the telephone and restroom); Jennings, 
155 N.H. at 770, 773 (noting that when police told the defendant 
to “knock on the interview room’s door if he needed anything[,] 
. . . . [t]he implication . . . was that [he] could not leave the room, 
much less the station”). But see Hughes, 640 F.3d at 436 (finding 
no custody where agents accompanied the defendant outside 
when he went for a cigarette during a break in questioning). 
 2 There is no evidence, for example, that the officers tried to 
search the defendant’s vehicle for weapons prior to his entering 
it to get cigarettes. Cf. Jennings, 155 N.H. at 773 (officers con-
ducted pat-down search of defendant before transporting him to 
police station). 
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or suspects contained in holding cells,” supporting the 
contention that a reasonable person would have felt 
free to leave); cf. Yarborough v. Alvarado, 541 U.S. 
652, 665 (2004) (identifying questioning at a police 
station as a factor that weighs towards finding cus-
tody). Further, the defendant was never enclosed in a 
small area inside or outside of a building – the inter-
view took place in a large open field, approximately 
an acre in size. See Hughes, 640 F.3d at 436 (find- 
ing no custody, in part, where nothing in the record 
showed that the officers either “exploited . . . [the] 
cozy confines [of the defendant’s home] or invaded the 
defendant’s personal space”); cf. State v. Dedrick, 132 
N.H. 218, 221, 225 (1989) (finding custody, in part, 
based upon the nature of the interview room, which 
measured eight feet by eight feet, was windowless, 
and was lit by a single lamp). That the defendant 
was very familiar with his surroundings supports the 
trial court’s finding that the interrogation was non-
custodial. 

 Although three officers went to the Bullmoose on 
October 22, only two actually conducted the inter-
view, while the third remained apart in his vehicle. 
See Hughes, 640 F.3d at 436 (stating that the presence 
of four officers was “impressive but not overwhelm-
ing,” particularly where only two officers questioned 
the defendant while the others remained apart); see 
also State v. Turmel, 150 N.H. 377, 379, 385 (2003) 
(finding no custody where, despite the presence of 
three police cruisers and an unmarked police truck, 
only two officers interviewed the defendant); State v. 



App. 39 

Locke, 149 N.H. 1, 6 (2002) (finding no custody where 
the defendant was questioned by two officers). Be-
cause the number of officers who questioned the de-
fendant was not so numerous as to be inherently 
intimidating, this factor also supports the trial court’s 
finding of no custody. 

 At no point during the interview did the officers 
physically restrain the defendant or otherwise engage 
in a show of force. The interviewing officers – True 
and Laurent – were dressed in plain clothes, not po-
lice uniforms. Although they were armed, their weap-
ons were covered by their jackets and not visible to 
the defendant, and at no point did they display or 
brandish their weapons. See Hughes, 640 F.3d at 436 
(finding no custody when, among other factors, the 
officers did not brandish their weapons, even though 
they were visible to the defendant); State v. Ham-
mond, 144 N.H. 401, 404 (1999) (finding no custody 
when, among other factors, the two officers question-
ing the defendant were not wearing their uniforms 
and their weapons were not visible to the defendant); 
Turmel, 150 N.H. at 385 (finding no custody where 
officers did not display their weapons to the defen-
dant).3 

 
 3 The majority asserts that Turmel and other cases involv-
ing traffic stops are “of limited application” to the analysis of 
this case. To the contrary, the significance of Turmel and its 
progeny is that these cases demonstrate that, even when a per-
son is unquestionably not free to leave (because he has been 
“seized” during a traffic stop), such level of restriction of freedom 

(Continued on following page) 
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 The majority seizes upon one isolated incident – 
True’s response to the defendant’s mid-interview at-
tempt to walk into the woods – as establishing the 
point, at the latest, by which the defendant was in 
custody. But, unlike the “sea change in the tenor and 
character of [the] interview” that the trial court in 
Dedrick found occurred after the officers reentered 
the interrogation room, see Dedrick, 132 N.H. at 225, 
here there is no evidence that this incident had any 
effect whatsoever on the tenor or character of the 
interactions between the officers and the defendant. 
Although this incident was an occasion when the 
officers apparently directed the defendant where 
not to go,4 such a direction is wholly inadequate to 

 
is not, without more, enough to require the administration of 
Miranda warnings before questioning. The seminal question 
posed by Turmel for the custody question at issue here is this: 
How likely is it that a motorist, “seized” during a traffic stop, 
would feel free to roam around his vehicle (or the area where the 
stop occurs) while being questioned? The answer is obvious; yet 
legions of cases hold that the mere seizure resulting from a 
traffic stop does not require administration of Miranda warn-
ings before questioning. Given that the defendant in this case 
faced nothing remotely resembling the level of restriction on 
freedom of movement typically imposed on a motorist subject to 
a traffic stop, the Turmel line of cases strongly supports the 
conclusion that he was not “in custody” for Miranda purposes. 
 4 Although the trial court interpreted Lieutenant True’s 
statement as a direction to the defendant that he could not enter 
the woods or leave the sight of Trooper Rella, the statement 
is susceptible of a different interpretation. Taken in context, a 
plausible alternative interpretation is that when True said, 
“we’re not walking out there” and “I don’t want to leave the sight 
of the trooper,” he was referencing only what he (or he and 

(Continued on following page) 
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demonstrate custody when considered in light of the 
totality of circumstances. The First Circuit’s decision 
in Hughes is instructive. There, during an interro-
gation of the defendant at his home, two troopers 
accompanied him as he went outside to smoke a 
cigarette during a break in the questioning. Hughes, 
640 F.3d at 436. The court found that “[w]hile escort-
ing a suspect throughout his home may have some 
bearing on the custody inquiry, there is no evidence 
that the troopers followed the defendant so closely 
as to intrude upon any intimate moment or private 
activity.” Id. (citation omitted). Thus, “their foray into 
the yard, viewed objectively, did not approach the 
level of physical restraint associated with formal 
arrest.” Id. 

 The same is true here. When the defendant 
started to walk into the woods, True said, “Hold it 
Tim, we’re not walking out there. I don’t want to 
leave the sight of the trooper.” Neither True nor 
Laurent made physical contact with the defendant at 
this point, nor is there evidence that they blocked his 
path into the woods or otherwise physically re-
directed his movements in any way. Cf. United States 
v. Mahmood, 415 F. Supp. 2d 13, 16 (D. Mass. 2006) 
(when, during interview at defendant’s home, tele-
phone rang, agents did not suggest a break or give 

 
Laurent) intended to do, not what the defendant was compelled 
to do. Nonetheless, in contrast to the majority’s methodology, be-
cause the trial court adopted the former interpretation, I accept 
it for purposes of my analysis. 
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any indication it was permissible for defendant to an-
swer, and when defendant turned to approach phone, 
agent placed herself in front of it); Jennings, 155 N.H. 
at 770 (after requesting defendant to “voluntarily” 
come to police station, officers rejected defendant’s 
request to travel in his own truck, took keys to the 
truck, and conducted pat-down search of defendant 
before he entered police cruiser). In the language of 
Hughes, the officers did not “intrude upon any inti-
mate moment or private activity,” as the defendant at 
the time was merely endeavoring to steer the collec-
tive movement of the trio into the woods. Hughes, 640 
F.3d at 436; cf. United States v. Madoch, 149 F.3d 596, 
601 (7th Cir. 1998) (finding that presence of agent 
while suspect pumped breast milk in bathroom was 
sufficient to establish that she was in custody).5 

 Viewed objectively, True’s response to the defen-
dant’s foray toward the woods did not approach the 

 
 5 The majority acknowledges that police safety concerns can 
be a valid reason, unrelated to custody, for escorting or placing 
restrictions on the movement of a person being questioned, but 
asserts that True’s testimony that such concerns were part of 
what led him to direct the defendant away from walking into the 
woods need not be considered because the defendant was not 
informed that this was the reason for the restriction. Although 
the defendant may not have been explicitly informed of the rea-
son for not going into the woods, True’s statement, “I don’t want 
to leave the sight of the trooper” (emphasis added), combined 
with the defendant’s knowledge that the officers hailed from 
afar and were unfamiliar with the area, certainly would have 
communicated to a reasonable person in his position that the 
officers were concerned for their safety. 
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level of physical restraint associated with formal 
arrest. The test for custody is not whether the de-
fendant had absolute freedom to move about as he 
wished – if that were the test, then police questioning 
of a motorist during a traffic stop would be unlawful 
in the absence of Miranda warnings, since the motor-
ist obviously is not free to move about as he wishes. 
Rather, the test is whether a reasonable person in the 
defendant’s position would have understood himself 
to be functionally under arrest. See Steimel, 155 N.H. 
at 144. Not only would a reasonable person not have 
believed that he was functionally under arrest at that 
point, but the defendant’s own actions clearly illus-
trate that he did not regard himself as being under 
arrest or subject to equivalent restraint. The defen-
dant’s response to True’s statement was simply to 
walk in another direction, without comment; he did 
not stop, ask the officers where he should go, or have 
any other reaction. His conduct demonstrates that 
the defendant believed he retained control over where 
the trio walked during the interview, and is wholly 
inconsistent with the thesis that he regarded himself 
as being in custody. Nor does the presence of Rella, 
who merely remained seated in his cruiser some 
distance away, change the objective reality of this 
situation. A reasonable person in the defendant’s po-
sition, I submit, would think it quite odd that a police 
officer sitting quietly in a car at varying distances 
from his location (depending upon where the defen-
dant was at the moment) was exercising dominion 
and control over him equivalent to that of a person 
who had been placed under arrest. 
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 To demonstrate the extent to which the majority’s 
“restraint” analysis deviates from the mainstream of 
settled law, it is useful to compare the facts of this 
case with those of cases upon which the majority re-
lies to support its conclusion that this factor supports 
its finding of custody. The majority cites United 
States v. Mittel-Carey, 493 F.3d 36 (1st Cir. 2007), in 
support of its decision, but in fact the circumstances 
in Mittel-Carey bear little similarity to those here. In 
Mittel-Carey, eight FBI agents arrived at the defen-
dant’s house at 6:25 a.m. to execute a search warrant 
for evidence that the defendant possessed and trans-
ported child pornography. Two agents entered the 
defendant’s dark bedroom, where he was asleep; one 
held a flashlight and an unholstered gun. Mittel-
Carey, 493 F.3d at 38. By contrast, in the instant 
case, two plain-clothed police officers and one State 
Trooper arrived at the defendant’s place of business 
during work hours. Although the officers were armed, 
their weapons were not visible. 

 In Mittel-Carey, the agents ordered the defendant 
to dress and escorted him downstairs from his bed-
room. Id. By contrast, in this case, the officers asked 
to speak with the defendant in private and then sug-
gested that they sit in the officers’ vehicle. Instead, 
the defendant requested that they walk and talk. The 
officers then followed the defendant’s lead as he be-
gan walking around a large open area surrounding 
the restaurant. When the defendant ran out of cig-
arettes, he led the officers to his truck where he 
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retrieved more cigarettes and then sat on the driver’s 
seat. 

 In Mittel-Carey, the defendant was told, during 
the interrogation, that “based on what the agents 
anticipated finding on his computer and what he had 
already done he was looking at a lot of jail time.” Id. 
(quotation and brackets omitted). By contrast, in the 
instant case, although the officers told the defendant 
that they were there to talk with him about molesting 
the victim, they never communicated to him that they 
had a warrant for his arrest or threatened him with 
jail time. Indeed, throughout their interaction, the 
officers and the defendant spoke back and forth in a 
conversational tone. The defendant often responded 
to the officers’ questions with questions of his own 
about the investigation – a circumstance which dem-
onstrates that, far from being cowed by the officers’ 
presence, he had the presence of mind to attempt to 
determine how much they already knew. Sometimes 
the officers answered his questions and sometimes 
they told him that they could not disclose details 
about their investigation. At no point did the officers 
raise their voices or otherwise act in a manner that 
was hostile or confrontational. The defendant was 
quiet and often took long pauses to think between 
answers, and the officers responded in kind by allow-
ing him to do so and by speaking in polite tones. 

 In Mittel-Carey, the defendant received permis-
sion from the agents on three occasions to move from 
his seated position in the living room. Id. On one 
occasion, he requested to use the bathroom and was 
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allowed to do so, but was required to leave the door 
partially open so that an agent could monitor him. 
Id. at 39. In this case, there is no evidence that the 
defendant ever felt the need to ask the officers for 
permission before walking to different parts of the 
open field or before, at one point, going to his truck, 
retrieving cigarettes, and then sitting down. The only 
time the officers told the defendant that he could not 
walk where he pleased was when he began to walk 
into the woods. At that point, an officer merely told 
the defendant that “we’re not walking out there” 
because the officer did not “want to leave the sight of 
the trooper.” 

 The majority also likens this case to United 
States v. Colonna, 511 F.3d 431 (4th Cir. 2007). How-
ever, in that case, twenty-four FBI agents and a com-
puter forensic technician arrived at the defendant’s 
home at 6:29 a.m. to execute a search warrant for 
child pornography. Colonna, 511 F.3d at 433. After the 
defendant’s parents and sister allowed the agents into 
the home, two agents went to his bedroom, kicked 
open the bedroom door, and, at gunpoint, ordered him 
to dress and come downstairs. Id. According to the 
defendant, as he attempted to dress, one agent 
“slammed him into a door jam causing injuries to his 
spine.” Id. Although the defendant was told that he 
was not under arrest, he was told twice that lying to a 
federal agent was a felony. Id. In contrast, nothing 
remotely approaching this kind of aggressive law 
enforcement behavior occurred in this case. 
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 In sum, the record before us amply supports the 
trial court’s finding that “the defendant was the one 
who decided where the interview occur[red] and he 
was the one who led the officers to different locations 
on his property.” It is fiction to suggest, as the major-
ity does, that this explicit finding can be squared with 
its conclusion that the defendant was subjected to 
restraint of a degree amounting to the functional 
equivalent of arrest. 

 
B 

 The majority next relies upon the fact that the 
interrogation here was initiated by the police, rather 
than by the defendant himself. Although I agree 
that this is a factor that weighs in favor of a finding 
of custody, its significance, under the totality of the 
circumstances, is minimal. Apparently recognizing as 
much, the majority attempts to “beef up” this factor 
by observing that “the defendant was aware that the 
officers traveled from Newmarket [some three hours 
away] to confront him.” Exactly how the majority be-
lieves the officers’ place of origin or travel time con-
tributes to the custody analysis is unexplained. At 
best, these considerations might lead a reasonable 
person to conclude that the officers considered the 
subject matter of their desired interview with the 
defendant to be of sufficient importance to justify the 
trip. I am aware of no authority, however, that suggests 
the importance which officers attach to a conversation 
is indicative of custody. In any event, whatever pro-
custody value the initiation-of-the-contact factor may 
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have is completely offset by the absence of any evi-
dence of heavy-handed tactics on the part of the 
officers in securing the defendant’s agreement to be 
interviewed and by the trial court’s explicit finding – 
which the majority does not dispute – that the de-
fendant “willingly and voluntarily spoke to Lieuten-
ant True and Sergeant Laurent.” 

 
C 

 The majority also places great weight upon the 
fact that, although the officers told the defendant on 
two or three occasions that he was not under arrest, 
they did not also inform him that he was free to 
terminate the interrogation.6 However, while inform-
ing a suspect that he is not under arrest may be “less 

 
 6 Although some courts appear to regard advice to a person 
that he does not have to answer questions as a factor that 
weighs in favor of a finding of non-custody, there is reason to 
question whether this conclusion is justified. A person subject to 
police interrogation has no obligation to answer questions 
whether he is in custody or not. And because advising a person 
that he does not have to answer questions is one part of the 
Miranda warnings, and there is authority for the proposition 
that administering Miranda warnings is a factor that may lead 
a person to believe he is under arrest or its functional equiva-
lent, see Caldwell v. State, 41 So. 3d 188, 201 (Fla. 2010) (dis-
cussing conflicting views of various courts on this point); State v. 
Green, 133 N.H. 249, 258 (1990) (“[T]he reading of Miranda 
warnings may be a factor in deciding whether a person is in 
custody under some circumstances. . . .”), it is understandable 
that officers desirous of not creating a custodial atmosphere 
would think twice before providing such a “Miranda light” 
warning. 
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determinative in favor of non-custody,” United States 
v. Sanchez, 676 F.3d 627, 631 (8th Cir. 2012), than 
informing him that he is free to leave, it is, nonethe-
less, a factor that weighs in favor of – not against – a 
finding that the defendant was not in custody, id. 
(citing United States v. Ollie, 442 F.3d 1135, 1138 (8th 
Cir. 2006), for the premise that, “where interviewer’s 
statement to suspect that she was not under arrest 
weighed against custody finding, it was less deter-
minative than a statement informing suspect that 
answers were voluntary and she was free to leave” 
(emphasis added)). “[A] statement by a law enforce-
ment officer to a suspect that he is not under arrest is 
an important part of the analysis of whether the 
suspect was in custody.”7 United States v. Swanson, 
341 F.3d 524, 530 (6th Cir. 2003) (citation omitted); 
see also Davis v. Allsbrooks, 778 F.2d 168, 171 (4th 
Cir. 1985) (informing a suspect that he is not under 
arrest is one factor courts frequently consider to show 
lack of custody); United States v. Helmel, 769 F.2d 

 
 7 That the officers had already obtained an arrest warrant 
for the defendant prior to interviewing him is not relevant to our 
custody determination, as there is no evidence that the defend-
ant was aware of the warrant. See Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 
U.S. 420, 442 (1984) (“A policeman’s unarticulated plan has no 
bearing on the question whether a suspect was ‘in custody’ at a 
particular time; the only relevant inquiry is how a reasonable 
man in the suspect’s position would have understood his situa-
tion.”); see also United States v. Reynolds, 762 F.2d 489, 493 (6th 
Cir. 1985) (“Since the warrants were unknown to defendants, 
their existence could not have affected how the defendants un-
derstood their position, which is the only relevant consideration 
under Berkemer.”). 
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1306, 1320 (8th Cir. 1985) (in finding lack of custody, 
it was “significant” that the suspect was specifically 
informed by the officers that he was not under ar-
rest); Smith v. Clark, 2013 WL 4409717, at *7 (E.D. 
Cal. Aug. 15, 2013) (“We think a reasonable person 
who is told that he is not under arrest would under-
stand that he is not in custody.”). 

 Although the majority acknowledges that inform-
ing a suspect that he is not under arrest weighs in 
favor of a finding of non-custody, its analysis then 
turns this factor upside down by concluding that 
not also informing the defendant he was free to 
terminate the interrogation “supports a finding of 
custody at some point during the interrogation.” 
(Emphasis added.) No authority supports such an 
approach. 

 
D 

 Finally, the majority relies upon the accusatory 
nature of the interrogation as support for its deter-
mination that the defendant was in custody. It finds 
“that the accusatory questioning and accusatory 
statements employed by the interrogating police of-
ficers each independently weigh in favor of a find- 
ing of custody, and further, that concurrently they 
strongly support such a finding.” This determination 
cannot be squared with our prior cases. 

 True and Laurent spoke with the defendant for 
approximately seventy-five minutes. Ample authority 
establishes that an interview of this length is not, in 
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itself, sufficient to raise an inference of custody. See, 
e.g., Hughes, 640 F.3d at 437 (stating that a ninety-
minute interview was of a “relatively short” dura-
tion); Locke, 149 N.H. at 6 (“The interview’s duration 
was not excessive: it lasted for three and one-half 
hours.”). 

 As for the demeanor of their exchange, the trial 
court found that “the two officers and the defendant 
spoke back and forth in a conversational tone,” de-
spite the intense subject matter being discussed. The 
officers were neither hostile nor confrontational to the 
defendant, and never raised their voices. To the con-
trary, the trial court described the officers as “polite,” 
and determined that “the character of the encounter 
was not fueled by hostility or animus.” Again this 
aspect of the interrogation is similar to Hughes, in 
which the court characterized the interview as non-
confrontational despite the fact that the defendant 
was being questioned about taking nude photographs 
of a minor in his care – a subject matter that is 
similarly intense and unpleasant, like the alleged 
sexual assault of K.L. that was the topic of discussion 
here. See Hughes, 640 F.3d at 431, 437; see also Locke, 
149 N.H. at 7 (finding no custody where there was “no 
evidence of shouting or harsh tones at any time 
during the interview”); Hammond, 144 N.H. at 404 
(finding no custody where the officers never became 
confrontational at any point in the questioning). 

 Although the interview was non-confrontational 
in tone, the officers did accuse the defendant of mo-
lesting K.L., told him several times that they did not 
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believe his claims of not remembering certain things, 
and urged him to tell the truth. However, our cases 
hold that even periods of aggressive questioning dur-
ing an otherwise non-confrontational interview are 
not sufficient to convert the interview into custodial 
interrogation. See, e.g., Steimel, 155 N.H. at 146 (“We 
have previously held that confrontational questioning 
did not constitute custody where it occurred briefly 
during an otherwise casual conversation.” (citation 
omitted)). That being the case, it should follow a 
fortiori that the absence of any aggressive or confron-
tational questioning is an even stronger indication of 
non-custody. 

 Our cases also make clear that police interro-
gation does not become custodial merely because 
its focus is upon the defendant’s alleged criminal 
conduct. For example, in State v. Carpentier, we 
found that the defendant was not in custody even 
though officers used strong language and loud voices 
when confronting him about discrepancies between 
his statements and those of other witnesses. State v. 
Carpentier, 132 N.H. 123, 127 (1989). We emphasized 
that “this intense and accusatory questioning lasted 
less than ten minutes, after [which] the interview 
again became relatively unconfrontational.” Id. (em-
phasis added). Similarly, in State v. Carroll, the 
defendant’s mother, an off-duty police officer, aggres-
sively questioned the defendant at the police station, 
with three other officers present in the interview 
room. State v. Carroll, 138 N.H. 687, 689-90 (1994). 
Both the defendant’s mother and another officer 
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raised their voices at times, and the defendant cried 
at several points during the interview. Id. at 690. 
Moreover, two officers present at the interrogation 
described it as “one of the most emotional and intense 
interrogations they had ever witnessed.” Id. Nonethe-
less, we found that, under the totality of the circum-
stances, the interview was non-custodial. Id. at 696. 

 In an attempt to reconcile its finding that the 
accusatory nature of the interrogation rendered it 
custodial as a matter of law with the trial court’s 
contrary factual finding, the majority relies upon 
State v. Dailey, 273 S.W.3d 94, 103 (Tenn. 2009), for 
the proposition that questioning can be custodial 
when it is accusatory notwithstanding that the of-
ficers’ “tone of voice and general demeanor were 
conversational.” But, once again, the comparison is 
unpersuasive because Dailey is readily distinguish-
able from this case. The first and most obvious dis-
tinction is that the questioning in Dailey occurred 
at the police station, in a small interview room 
wherein the defendant was seated in the back corner 
diagonally across from the door in front of which one 
of the two interrogating officers sat. See Dailey, 273 
S.W.3d at 97. Unlike this case, in which the police 
informed the defendant from the outset of the pur-
pose for their visit, the police in Dailey secured the 
defendant’s presence at the station through the ruse 
that they needed to take a second set of “elimination 
fingerprints” because the defendant worked at the 
business where the victim’s body was discovered. Id. 
During the course of the un-warned interview, the 
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officers not only falsely told the defendant that his 
fingerprints “had been found in a place they shouldn’t 
have been” and suggested that they had other un-
specified forensic evidence of his guilt, but – most 
significantly for present purposes – they told him that 
“if they went strictly on the evidence, they would 
have to charge [him] with first degree murder.” Id. at 
98 (quotations omitted). In contrast, until the very 
end of the interview, the officers in this case made no 
statements to the defendant that they could arrest 
him or that they intended to do so. Given the circum-
stances in Dailey, it is not at all surprising that the 
court found that the defendant was in custody at 
least at the point when the officer made the “if I go 
strictly on the evidence” statement. See id. at 104. 
Dailey, however, offers no support for a similar result 
in this case. 

 Thus, although I do not dispute that accusatory 
statements and expressions of disbelief in a suspect’s 
veracity are factors that cut in favor of custody, we 
have never held that they alone are sufficient to find 
that a suspect was in custody – and here, as shown 
above, there are no other circumstances sufficient to 
support such a finding. As the United States Supreme 
Court has explained: 

[A] noncustodial situation is not converted to 
one in which Miranda applies simply because 
a reviewing court concludes that, even in the 
absence of any formal arrest or restraint 
on freedom of movement, the questioning 
took place in a “coercive environment.” Any 
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interview of one suspected of a crime by a po-
lice officer will have coercive aspects to it, 
simply by virtue of the fact that the police of-
ficer is part of a law enforcement system 
which may ultimately cause the suspect to be 
charged with a crime. But police officers are 
not required to administer Miranda warn-
ings to everyone whom they question. 

Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 495 (1977); see 
also United States v. Phillip, 948 F.2d 241, 247 (6th 
Cir. 1991) (“Coercive environments not rising to the 
level of formal arrest . . . do not constitute custody 
within the meaning of Miranda.” (citation omitted)). 

 
III 

 Virtually all of the cases cited by the majority are 
relied upon only for general propositions of law, such 
as that custody is more apt to be found in police-
initiated as opposed to suspect-initiated encounters, 
see ante at 12 (citing United States v. Griffin, 922 F.2d 
1343, 1351 (8th Cir. 1990)), that the accusatory 
nature of questioning is a factor that weighs toward a 
finding of custody, see ante at 9-11 (citing Dedrick, 
132 N.H. at 225), and so on. I do not quarrel with 
these general legal principles. However, what the 
majority fails to recognize is that many of the cited 
opinions held that the questioning at issue did not 
constitute custodial interrogation. See United States 
v. Salvo, 133 F.3d 943, 953 (6th Cir. 1998); United 
States v. Lifshitz, 03 Cr. 572 (LAP), 2004 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 18571, at *26 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 15, 2004); Com. 
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v. Groome, 755 N.E.2d 1224, 1236 (Mass. 2001); 
Steimel, 155 N.H. at 146; Locke, 149 N.H. at 7; 
Hammond, 144 N.H. at 404; State v. Graca, 142 N.H. 
670, 676 (1998); State v. Johnson, 140 N.H. 573, 579 
(1995); Green, 133 N.H. at 258-59; State v. Tucker, 
131 N.H. 526, 531 (1989); People v. Henry, 980 
N.Y.S.2d 594, 597 (App. Div. 2014). 

 Above I have detailed the distinctions between 
this case and a few of the cases relied upon by the 
majority in which the courts did find custody. How-
ever, the reality is that all such cases relied upon by 
the majority are readily distinguishable from this 
case,8 either because they involved station-house in-
terrogation – the core concern that Miranda warnings 
were designed to ameliorate – or because they in-
volved significantly greater coercive elements than 
are present here. See United States v. Beraun-Panez, 
812 F.2d 578, 579-80 (9th Cir.) (questioning of de-

 
 8 Even State v. Hieu Tran, 71 A.3d 1201 (Vt. 2012), the case 
cited by the majority that arguably presents the factual scenario 
most nearly analogous to that involved here, is distinguishable 
in important respects, in that the questioning in that case took 
place within the confines of a police vehicle, the officers did not 
inform the defendant either that he was free to leave or that he 
was not under arrest, and one of the officers told the defendant 
to stop playing with his cell phone during the interview. See id. 
at 1203-04. In addition, in Hieu Tran, as in our own Dedrick and 
Jennings cases, the trial court made a finding that “the circum-
stances of the questioning created a police-dominated atmos-
phere,” id. at 1204, and the appellate court merely upheld that 
finding. In contrast, here the majority substitutes its judgment 
for the trial court’s express finding that “the interview bears 
none of the hallmarks of a formal arrest.” 
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fendant by two officers occurred out of doors; officers 
did not tell him he was under arrest nor was he 
placed in handcuffs; officers accused defendant of 
starting a fire, falsely told him that witnesses could 
place him at the scene, demanded to know why he 
was lying when he denied it, and told him that he 
could be deported if he “kept lying” or if he was con-
victed; when a companion, on horseback, approached 
the scene of the questioning, one of the officers di-
rected him away), modified, 830 F.2d 127 (9th Cir. 
1987); United States v. Griffin, 7 F.3d 1512, 1514-15, 
1519 (10th Cir. 1993) (defendant was separated from 
her friend and questioned by single officer in small 
airport police office; questioning was accusatory; 
defendant was not told that she could refuse to an-
swer questions, terminate the interview, or leave); 
Griffin, 922 F.2d at 1346 (defendant was questioned 
at home; when told agents were investigating bank 
robbery, the defendant immediately said “the gun 
wasn’t loaded”; agents told the defendant’s parents 
they needed to speak with him privately; the defen-
dant was not informed that he was not under arrest 
or that he could refuse to answer questions, was told 
to always remain in view of agents, and was accom-
panied to another room when getting cigarettes); 
United States v. Wauneka, 770 F.2d 1434, 1437 (9th 
Cir. 1985) (eighteen-year-old defendant transported to 
law enforcement office by two armed officers; ques-
tioned first by four or five officers and, after a break 
during which he broke down crying, by two officers; 
defendant never offered opportunity to leave, told he 
had information only the perpetrator would know, 
that he matched the description of perpetrator, and 
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that he better stop lying); White v. United States, 68 
A.3d 271, 274-75 (D.C. 2014) (car stop; defendant was 
not asked for license or registration, was immediately 
handcuffed and isolated from young son left in 
car; not told that he was not under arrest); Aguilera-
Tovar v. State, 57 A.3d 1084, 1087-90 (Md. Ct. Spec. 
App. 2012) (after appellant was administered a poly-
graph test, he was interrogated in windowless inter-
view room at police station where officers confronted 
him repeatedly and persistently with the fact that 
he failed the polygraph, accused him of lying, and 
threatened to inform his wife about the negative test 
results); Ross v. State, 45 So. 3d 403, 415-17 (Fla. 
2010) (defendant came to station voluntarily and was 
questioned in small room; never told he was free to 
leave; after initial general questioning, interrogation 
became confrontational and accusatorial and lasted 
for hours, during which defendant was repeatedly 
confronted with evidence against him); Jennings, 155 
N.H. at 770-71 (officers met the defendant in the 
driveway of his residence, asked him to “voluntarily” 
come to station; after he agreed, insisted that he 
travel to station in police car rather than his own 
vehicle, confiscated his car keys and conducted pat-
down search of his person; questioned the defendant 
at the station in a small interview room; officer con-
fronted the defendant with allegations and said he 
believed them to be true; although the defendant was 
told he was not under arrest and free to leave, there 
was no evidence he understood this to be true; when 
officer left interview room, told the defendant to 
knock on the door if he needed anything); Dedrick, 
132 N.H. at 221-22 (the defendant was questioned at 
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police station in small, windowless room; advised of 
his Miranda rights, accused of untruths, and con-
fronted with damning information); State v. Hieu 
Tran, 71 A.3d 1201, 1203-04 (Vt. 2012) (questioning 
occurred in police cruiser outside the defendant’s 
home; the defendant was repeatedly confronted with 
evidence of guilt, was not told he was not under 
arrest or free to leave, and told not to play with his 
cell phone); State v. Muntean, 12 A.3d 518, 520-22 
(Vt. 2010) (the defendant was questioned in a small, 
windowless room at the police station; not told he was 
free to leave; continuously confronted with evidence 
of guilt and accused of being untruthful). 

 Thus none of the cases cited by the majority 
support the result reached by the majority. Simply 
put, the majority can point to no case in which a court 
has found police questioning of a suspect to involve 
custodial interrogation where the questioning takes 
place outside as the suspect leads officers on a walk-
around of his own property, the suspect is informed 
he is not under arrest, there are minimal – if any – 
exertions of physical control over the suspect, and 
the questioning is not aggressive or hostile. In short, 
the majority’s decision in this case is an outlier in 
Miranda jurisprudence. 

 For the above reasons, I respectfully dissent. 

 DALIANIS, C.J., joins in the dissent. 
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THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE  
SUPERIOR COURT 

ROCKINGHAM, SS. 

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 

V. 

TIMOTHY MCKENNA 

NO. 218-2010-CR-2277 

ORDER ON MOTION TO SUPPRESS  

 The defendant, Timothy McKenna, stands 
charged with six counts of Aggravated Felonious 
Sexual Assault. The charges stem from incidents 
which occurred approximately nine to fourteen years 
ago. The defendant has filed a Motion to Suppress 
statements he made to the Newmarket Police on 
October 22, 2010. In that motion, he argues that 
when he made certain statements to the police on 
that day he was “in custody” and his statements 
should be suppressed because the police did not read 
him his Miranda warnings. The defendant further 
argues that his statements were involuntary. The 
State objects on the grounds that the police were not 
obligated to read him Miranda warnings because the 
defendant was not subject to a “custodial” interroga-
tion when he made the statements. The Court held a 
hearing on December 19, 2011 and received testimony 
from Newmarket Police Lieutenant Kyle True and 
Sergeant Karen Laurent. Based on their testimony, 
the Court makes the following findings of fact. 
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 In October 2010, Lieutenant True and Sergeant 
Laurent were involved in an investigation of child 
sexual abuse. K.L. had reported to the police that she 
had been sexually abused by the defendant, approxi-
mately nine to fourteen years earlier, in Newmarket 
when the defendant was dating a woman who ran a 
daycare. K.L. attended the daycare and was six years 
old at the time of the alleged abuse. Based on inter-
views with K.L. and the defendant’s then-girlfriend, 
coupled with other investigations, the Newmarket 
detectives obtained a warrant for the defendant’s 
arrest. 

 At the time K.L. came forward and reported the 
alleged abuse, the defendant resided in Errol, New 
Hampshire, where he owned and operated the 
Bullmoose campground and restaurant with his 
girlfriend. On October 22, 2010, Lieutenant True and 
Sergeant Laurent traveled to northern New Hamp-
shire to interview the defendant. By this point, the 
officers had a warrant for the defendant’s arrest with 
them. 

 Upon arrival in northern New Hampshire, the 
officers first stopped in at the Colebrook Police De-
partment where they met with New Hampshire State 
Trooper Rella. The Newmarket officers made contact 
with Trooper Rella for several reasons. First, the 
Newmarket officers were unfamiliar with the area 
where the defendant lived. Second, they needed 
Trooper Rella as a liaison and guide. Third, the 
Newmarket officers did not have radio contact with 
their own police department, therefore, Trooper Rella 
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provided them with a means of communication in 
case they needed further assistance. Finally, the 
officers did not have jurisdiction in Errol. 

 After their meeting, Trooper Rella drove his fully-
marked State Police cruiser to Errol, N.H. while 
Lieutenant True and Sergeant Laurent followed in 
their unmarked Ford Expedition. The Bullmoose 
campground and restaurant, where the defendant 
lived and worked, was in a desolate location. When 
the officers, arrived at the Bullmoose, they drove 
down the driveway, which was approximately 1/8 of a 
mile from the main road and which opened to a large 
clearing that included at least a one-acre field where 
the parking lot and restaurant were situated. There 
was no view of the main road from the restaurant and 
parking area. Beyond the open field, the area was 
surrounded by trees. 

 Trooper Rella, who was dressed in a full State 
Police uniform, got out of his cruiser and entered the 
restaurant. He first made contact with the defen-
dant’s girlfriend who directed him to another building 
where the defendant was working. The defendant and 
Trooper Rella then walked over to the Ford Expedi-
tion where Lieutenant True and Sergeant Laurent 
were located. Trooper Rella introduced the Newmar-
ket officers to the defendant and they all shook 
hands. Lieutenant True and Sergeant Laurent were 
both dressed in a similar fashion. Each officer wore a 
dark jacket – the Newmarket Police badge and their 
names were embroidered on the front of it. Other 
than that, they had no other visible police insignia. 
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While both officers were armed, their weapons were 
covered by the jacket so they were not visible. 

 Lieutenant True asked to talk to the defendant 
without his girlfriend and Trooper Rella present 
because the matter they needed to discuss with the 
defendant was private. Lieutenant True then sug-
gested they sit in the Ford Expedition, which the 
Newmarket officers drove to the Bullmoose. The 
officers’ vehicle looked like an ordinary civilian vehi-
cle from the outside. Lieutenant True suggested they 
sit in the SUV because the temperature was around 
35 degrees, and neither Lieutenant True nor Sergeant 
Laurent were dressed for cold weather. The defen-
dant, on the other hand, was dressed appropriately 
for the weather, and therefore, the defendant asked if 
they could walk and talk instead. The Newmarket 
officers agreed. Meanwhile, Trooper Rella returned to 
his police cruiser where he sat and waited. 

 The Newmarket officers followed the defendant’s 
lead as he began walking around the large open area 
surrounding the restaurant. When they were alone 
with the defendant, the officers told the defendant 
that they were there to talk to him about molesting 
K.L. Sergeant Laurent told the defendant that he was 
not under arrest and they just wanted to get his side 
of the story. 

 When the officers told him that they wanted to 
talk to him about molesting K.L., the defendant 
responded by saying that he “did not remember that.” 
Sergeant Laurent then pulled out a picture of K.L. 
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and showed it to the defendant. He smiled and said 
he remembered her and commented on how she was a 
cute girl. Sergeant Laurent noticed that the defen-
dant looked very nervous and was shaking. She asked 
him if he was cold. The defendant said that he was 
not cold because he had just been working. 

 The officers subsequently asked the defendant 
multiple background questions to confirm that he had 
lived in Newmarket at the time the alleged molesta-
tion occurred, and that he had dated the woman who 
ran the daycare which K.L. attended. Other similar 
questions were also asked. When they asked the 
defendant if he had molested any other children in 
Newmarket, the defendant was adamant that he had 
not. At this time, the defendant’s breathing became 
shallow, he continued shaking, and he was chain 
smoking. 

 During the encounter, the defendant walked to 
different parts of the open field. At one point, the 
defendant began to walk back into the woods. In 
response, Lieutenant True said “Hold it Tim, we’re 
not walking out there. I don’t want to leave the sight 
of the trooper.” Lieutenant True testified that he did 
not want to go into the woods because neither of the 
officers were dressed to walk in the woods, they did 
not know the area, and they did not have any radio 
communications. The defendant did not say anything 
in response to Lieutenant True and simply began 
walking in another direction. The officers continued 
to follow him. 
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 The entire interaction with the defendant lasted 
approximately one hour and fifteen minutes. During 
this time, they walked over different parts of the 
field, covering most of the open ground. At one point 
during the conversation, the defendant ran out of 
cigarettes. He walked over to his pickup truck while 
the officers followed him. The defendant went into the 
truck and retrieved some more cigarettes. After-
wards, he sat himself on the driver’s seat with his 
feet hanging out of the truck. The officers stood 
outside of the vehicle as they continued to converse 
with the defendant. 

 Throughout their interaction, the two officers and 
the defendant spoke back and forth in a conversa-
tional tone. Although the defendant never unequivo-
cally denied molesting K.L., at times, he claimed he 
did not remember certain events. The defendant often 
responded to the officers with questions of his own 
about the investigation. He asked the officers who the 
police had talked to, what room it happened in, and 
what evidence they had. He told the officers that they 
probably had DNA. The officers sometimes answered 
his questions and sometimes told him that they could 
not disclose all of the details of the investigation. 

 Although the officers told the defendant several 
times that they did not believe his claim that he could 
not remember or that he was not telling the truth, at 
no point did the officers raise their voices, nor were 
they otherwise hostile or confrontational with the 
defendant. The defendant was very quiet, and he 
often took long pauses to think between answers. The 
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officers responded in-kind by allowing the defendant 
to think in silence and speaking to him in polite 
tones. 

 At one point, Sergeant Laurent asked the de-
fendant if he had an emotional relationship with K.L. 
The defendant denied this. Lieutenant True then 
said, “You just wanted to come.” The defendant nod-
ded his head and responded, “Yes, that was probably 
it.” Lieutenant True then asked if the defendant had 
had oral sex with K.L. The defendant responded, 
“Yes.” The defendant also admitted he had digitally 
penetrated her and had had vaginal intercourse with 
her. They [sic] officers told the defendant it was good 
to be honest and told him they just wanted to hear 
his version of events. The defendant did not have any 
more details to offer but said that he regretted his 
relationship with K.L. 

 Even after the defendant made these admissions, 
the police let the defendant go into the restaurant to 
talk to his girlfriend. Although they accompanied 
him, they allowed him to talk to his girlfriend and get 
a soda before they arrested him. They then arrested 
him out of sight of the restaurant so that they would 
not embarrass him in front of the patrons who were 
at the restaurant. The officers then brought the 
defendant over to Trooper Rella’s cruiser where he 
was placed inside and brought to the police station for 
booking. 
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Analysis  

 The defendant first argues that he was subjected 
to a custodial interrogation while being questioned by 
Lieutenant True and Sergeant Laurent, which trig-
gered the protections guaranteed by Part I, Article 15 
of the New Hampshire Constitution, and the Fifth 
and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 
Constitution. The New Hampshire State Constitution 
affords a defendant greater protection than does the 
federal constitution with regard to rights under 
Miranda, and thus the Court need not conduct a 
separate federal constitutional analysis. State v. Cook, 
148 N.H. 735, 740 (2002). Accordingly, the Court will 
address the defendant’s motion under state law, using 
federal authority for guidance only. See State v. Ball, 
124 N.H. 226, 231-32 (1983). 

 Part I, Article 15 of the New Hampshire Consti-
tution accords “[n]o subject shall . . . be compelled to 
accuse or furnish evidence against himself.” “The 
police are obligated to issue Miranda warnings when 
conducting a custodial interrogation.” State v. Turmel, 
150 N.H. 377, 382 (2003); see Miranda v. Arizona, 384 
U.S. 436 (1966). “Miranda warnings are not required 
simply because the person being questioned is one 
whom the police suspect.” State v. Tucker, 131 N.H. 
526, 529 (1989) (quotations and citations omitted). 
“[W]here a person is not subject to a custodial inter-
rogation, the obligation on the part of the police to 
issue Miranda warnings and to respect the invocation 
of Miranda rights does not attach.” State v. Carroll, 
138 N.H. 687, 696 (1994). 
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 With respect to this issue, the following standard 
governs: 

[w]hether a defendant is in custody for pur-
poses of Miranda is essentially a question of 
fact. . . . A defendant is in custody if subject 
to formal arrest or restraint of movement of 
the degree associated with formal arrest. In 
the absence of formal arrest, the trial court 
must consider how much the suspect’s free-
dom of movement was curtailed and how a 
reasonable person in the suspect’s position 
would have understood the situation. Factors 
that the trial court should consider include 
the suspect’s familiarity with the surround-
ings, the number of officers present, the de-
gree to which the suspect was physically 
restrained, and the interview’s duration and 
character. 

Id. (internal quotations omitted); State v. Carpentier, 
132 N.H. 123, 126 (1989). 

 Here, the parties do not dispute that the defen-
dant was subject to an interrogation by the officers. 
Thus, the only issue before the Court is whether the 
defendant was “in custody” at the time he made his 
admissions. The Court must determine whether the 
“suspect’s freedom of movement was curtailed and 
how a reasonable person in the suspect’s position 
would have understood the situation.” See Carroll, 
138 N.H. at 687. The issue is not whether the encoun-
ter with the police may have had coercive or restric-
tive aspects to it. See State v. Portigue, 125 N.H. 338, 
344 (1984). Rather, the focus must be on whether the 
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defendant was either under formal arrest or the 
police “restrained the defendant’s freedom of move-
ment to a degree associated with a formal arrest.” Id. 
at 345. 

 There is no dispute that the defendant was not 
under formal arrest at the time he made the state-
ments to the police. Rather, the defendant contends 
that the circumstances of his encounter with the 
police were the reasonable equivalent to formal 
arrest. The defendant argues that he was “in custody” 
when he made his statements to the police because 
his movements were restricted. He contends that he 
was obligated to be in the presence of two officers and 
within the line-of-sight of Trooper Rella. Based on the 
testimony provided, however, the Court finds that the 
defendant was not in custody for the purposes of 
Miranda. 

 Here, the defendant willingly and voluntarily 
spoke to Lieutenant True and Sergeant Laurent. 
When Lieutenant True and Sergeant Laurent first 
made contact with the defendant, Trooper Rella 
merely introduced them to the defendant; the officers 
in no way exuded an intent to restrain or arrest the 
defendant. Lieutenant True and Sergeant Laurent 
shook hands with the defendant and subsequently 
agreed to speak in private, away from Trooper Rella 
and the defendant’s girlfriend. The police officers 
suggested that they sit in the officer’s SUV, however, 
the defendant requested that they walk outside and 
talk, to which the officers agreed. 
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 Almost the entire encounter between Lieutenant 
True, Sergeant Laurent, and the defendant occurred 
outside in the large open area surrounding the res-
taurant. While the officers had obtained an active 
warrant for the defendant’s arrest prior to their 
questioning, this fact was never communicated to the 
defendant either directly or implicitly. In fact, the 
officers told the defendant that he was not under 
arrest. Sergeant Laurent even repeated that the 
defendant was not under arrest two or three times 
throughout the conversation. 

 The officers stated that they wanted to get the 
defendant’s side of the story. At first, the officers only 
attempted to gain background information to confirm 
that the defendant lived in Newmarket at the time of 
the alleged sexual acts and that he dated the woman 
who ran the daycare that K.L. attended. The officers 
testified that if the defendant had provided them with 
some information that might have established that he 
could not have committed the crime, they would not 
have executed the warrant and would have instead 
done further investigation. 

 While it is true that the officers did not allow the 
defendant to enter the woods, or leave Trooper Rella’s 
line-of-sight, Lieutenant True testified that this was 
because the officers were not dressed to enter the 
woods, that they did not know the area, and that they 
did not have any radio communications. When Lieu-
tenant True told the defendant that he wanted to 
remain in sight of Trooper Rella, under the circum-
stances a reasonable person would not have understood 
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that direction to be the functional equivalent of a 
formal arrest. In fact, the defendant himself respond-
ed by simply heading in another direction on the 
property while the officers continued to follow him. 
Thus, with the exception of this one limited state-
ment by Lieutenant True, the defendant was the one 
who decided where the interview occur and he was 
the one who led the officers to different locations on 
his property. This type of interaction is hardly indica-
tive of the hallmarks of restraint on freedom associ-
ated with a formal arrest. 

 Moreover, the record reflects that the officers and 
the defendant spoke in a conversational tone and that 
the officers even responded to questions the defen-
dant asked about their investigation. The officers 
were neither hostile nor confrontational. 

 In considering the factors enumerated in Carroll, 
the Court concludes that the defendant was not in 
custody when he made his statements to the officers. 
The defendant was familiar with his surroundings, 
there were only two officers present, and the defen-
dant was not physically restrained. While the en-
counter lasted between an hour and an hour and a 
half, it is clear to the Court that the character of the 
encounter was not fueled by hostility or animus. 
Rather, the officers allowed the defendant to wander 
the field, take time to ponder in silence, and to get 
cigarettes and sit in his truck. Again, this type of 
freedom afforded the defendant during the interview 
bears none of the hallmarks of a formal arrest. There-
fore, the Court finds that the defendant was not in 
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custody and the officers were not required to provide 
the defendant with Miranda warnings. 

 The defendant next argues the statements he 
made to the officers were involuntary. “For a state-
ment to be admissible at trial, the State must prove 
beyond a reasonable doubt that the statement was 
voluntary.” State v. Parker, 160 N.H. 203, 207-08 
(2010) (citing State v. Rezk, 150 N.H. 483, 486 (2004)). 

 To determine voluntariness, the focus of the 
inquiry is “whether the actions of an individual are 
the product of an essentially free and unconstrained 
choice.” Id. at 405. Additionally, a confession cannot 
be “the product of a will overborne by police tactics, or 
of a mind incapable of conscious choice.” Id. Voluntar-
iness must be determined in light of “the totality of 
all surrounding circumstances,” and “both the charac-
teristics of the accused and the details of the interro-
gation” are considered. Rezk, 150 N.H. at 487. 

 Here, the defendant argues that the officers’ 
interrogation resulted in the defendant making 
involuntary statements. After a review of the plead-
ings and listening to the testimony of the officers, the 
Court finds that the State met its burden of proving 
beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant’s 
statements to the officers were made voluntarily. 
While the defendant was admittedly nervous and 
shaking, and at times his breathing became shallow, 
evidence was presented at the hearing that the 
defendant was actually quite reflective during the 
encounter. Specifically, the officers testified that the 
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defendant was very quiet and that he often took long 
pauses to think between answering questions asked 
by the officers. The officers responded in-kind by 
allowing the defendant to think in silence before he 
answered their questions. Additionally, no evidence 
was presented demonstrating “any intimidation, 
threats, promises, inducements, coercion or any 
action by the officer[s] to whom the admission was 
made which would have had a tendency to overbear 
[his] will.” Id. 

 Based on the totality of the facts, the Court finds 
that the State has sustained its burden of showing 
that the defendant’s statements were not taken as 
part of a custodial interrogation contrary to Miranda, 
and also that the statements were voluntary. At no 
point was the defendant “in custody” for purposes of 
Miranda, until he was actually arrested by the offic-
ers. As such, no violation of the defendant’s privilege 
against self-incrimination occurred. See State v. 
Locke, 149 N.H. 1, 6-7 (2002). Accordingly, the de-
fendant’s Motion to Suppress is DENIED. 

So ORDERED. 

2/6/2012 /s/ N. William Delker
DATE  N. William Delker

Presiding Justice 
 

 
  



App. 74 

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 

SUPREME COURT 

 In Case No. 2013-0009, State of New Hamp-
shire v. Timothy McKenna, the court on October 
10, 2014, issued the following order: 

 Supreme Court Rule 22(2) provides that a party 
filing a motion for rehearing or reconsideration shall 
state with particularity the points of law or fact that 
the party claims the court has overlooked or mis-
apprehended. 

 We have reviewed the claims made in the motion 
for reconsideration and conclude that no points of law 
or fact were overlooked or misapprehended in our 
decision. Accordingly, we deny the relief requested in 
the motion. 

Relief requested in 
the motion denied. 

 Dalianis, C.J., and Hicks, Conboy, Lynn, and 
Bassett, JJ., concurred. 

Eileen Fox, 
Clerk 

Distribution: 
Rockingham County Superior Court, 
 218-2010-CR-02277 
Hon. Kenneth R. McHugh 
Hon. N. William Delker 
Elizabeth C. Woodcock, Esq. 
Richard E. Samdperil, Esq. 
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Andrew F. Cotrupi, Esq. 
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THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE  
SUPREME COURT 

No. 2013-009 

The State Of New Hampshire 

v. 

Timothy McKenna 

MOTION TO RECONSIDER 

 The State respectfully asks this Court to recon-
sider its ruling in this case. The State makes this 
request on three bases: (1) the opinion does not give 
the appropriate deference to the trial court’s findings 
of fact; (2) although the opinion states that this Court 
is reaching the result under the New Hampshire 
Constitution, the defendant did not raise the claim 
under the state constitution, except by passing refer-
ence, and this Court offers no separate analysis under 
the state constitution, instead relying extensively on 
federal case law; and (3) although Supreme Court 
Rule 12-D allows this Court to issue a published 
opinion after a 3JX. argument without ordering re-
argument or re-briefing, this process is inconsistent 
with this Court’s opinion in State v. Landry. 

 
I. STANDARD 

 A motion for reconsideration or rehearing must 
state “with particularity the points of law or fact that 
in the professional judgment of the movant the court 
has overlooked or misapprehended. . . .” Sup. Ct. R. 
22(2). 
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II. ARGUMENT 

 In this case, the superior court found that the 
defendant was not in custody when the officer walked 
with him and asked his questions concerning allega-
tions of child abuse. DB App.: 48-49.1 This Court 
reversed the superior court’s ruling, although it 
characterized the case as “close.” State v. McKenna, 
No. 2013-0009, slip op. at 12 (N.H. Sept. 9, 2014). 

 
A. Failure To Give The Superior Court’s 

Factual Findings Deference. 

 When considering a Fifth Amendment challenge, 
the ultimate determination of custody requires an 
application of a legal standard to historical facts; it is 
not merely a factual question, but a mixed question of 
law and fact. State v. Ford, 144 N.H. 57, 62 (1999). 
This Court applies a de novo standard to the legal 
question, but defers to the trial court’s factual find-
ings unless they are contrary to the manifest weight 
of the evidence. Id. at 62-63. 

 This Court made an error in failing to give the 
superior court’s decision the appropriate deference. As 
the dissent points out, this Court did not apply the 
deferential standard that it generally applies to the 
review of factual findings. McKenna, slip op. at 14. 
The dissent characterizes the majority opinion as 

 
 1 DB App.:___” refers to the appendix to the defendant’s 
brief. 
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“subtly recasting the underlying facts in a manner 
that deviates from the trial court’s rulings or from 
inferences that are supported by the record.” Id. at 
14. 

 For example, the majority characterized the 
questioning as being “accusatory” (in contrast with 
questions of a general nature). McKenna, slip op. at 9. 
The suggestion is that the accusatory questioning 
overrode the defendant’s free will. But the trial court 
found that the questioning was not “confrontational.” 
DB App.: 42. Moreover, according to the superior 
court, the officers did not raise their voices, they were 
not hostile, they were polite, and they gave the de-
fendant time to think about his answers. DB App.: 42-
43. To conclude that the questioning contributed to a 
finding of custody, see McKenna, slip op. at 9-10, 
simply because the officers believed the victim, mis-
characterizes the tone of the conversation. See, e.g., 
State v. Carpentier, 132 N.H. 123, 128 (1989) (finding 
statements were voluntary where the interview 
“lasted about three hours and, while not entirely 
friendly and sedate, consisted mainly of questioning 
in a reasonable tone on topics the police told [the 
defendant] they would address at the outset.”); see 
also State v. Monroe, 142 N.H. 857, 862 (1998) (inter-
view lasted for three hours and the tone remained 
“conversational”). Further, the State can find no case 
where the length of time that it took the officers to 
arrive at the defendant’s place of work, McKenna, slip 
op. at 8, is a relevant factor. Cf. Monroe, 142 N.H. at 
862 (officers traveled to North Carolina to interview 
the defendant). 
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 Without recounting the list of the deviations cited 
by the dissent here, the State asks this Court to 
reconsider its opinion on the ground that it failed to 
give deference to the superior court’s factual findings. 

 
B. The Claim Was Not Raised Under the 

State Constitution, And The Decision 
Was Not Rendered Under New Hamp-
shire Constitutional Law. 

 Under the New Hampshire Constitution, “[n]o 
subject shall be held to answer for any crime, or 
offense, until the same is fully and plainly, substan-
tially and formally, described to him; or be compelled 
to accuse and furnish evidence against himself.” N.H. 
Const. pt. I, art. 15. Under the Fifth Amendment, a 
person is protected “against being incriminated by his 
own compelled testimonial communications.” 41 Geo. 
L.J. Ann. Rev. Crim. Proc. 517, 650 (2012). 

 Although this Court has never defined “custody” 
differently under the New Hampshire Constitution, it 
did so in effect in this case. As discussed above, the 
majority discounted the trial court’s findings and 
made findings of its own. And when it found that the 
defendant was in custody, it did so by citing a mé-
lange of state and federal cases, despite stating that 
the decision rested on the state constitution. McKen-
na, slip op. at 13, 14. 

 Three points are worth considering here. First, 
although the defendant cited the New Hampshire 
Constitution in his brief, his reference to it in his 
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motion to suppress was, at best, cursory. See DB App.: 
A27, A30. Given the opportunity to add to his plead-
ing, the defendant did not mention the state constitu-
tion at the hearing on the motion to suppress. See 
Transcript of Hearing on Motion to Suppress: 95. 

 The defendant did not cite the state constitution 
in his notice of appeal, nor did he develop his argu-
ment in his brief. Simply put, he did not ask this 
Court to reverse the superior court on state constitu-
tional grounds. Instead, he relied entirely on the 
traditional definitions of custody found in federal 
jurisprudence. This Court’s opinion, therefore, relies 
on an argument not raised by the defense and, as 
such, not cognizable under this Court’s procedure. See 
State v. Blackmer, 149 N.H. 47, 49 (2003) (issues that 
are not presented in the notice of appeal, presented in 
the notice of appeal but not briefed, or not adequately 
briefed on appeal are all deemed waived); see also 
Douglas v. Douglas, 143 N.H. 419, 429 (1996) (“Win 
the realm of appellate review, a mere laundry list of 
complaints regarding adverse rulings by the trial 
court, without developed legal argument, is insuffi-
cient to warrant judicial review.” (Citation omitted.)). 
A “passing reference” to a constitutional claim ren-
ders the argument waived. Blackmer, 149 N.H. at 49 
(citing State v. Chick, 141 N.H. 503, 505 (1996)); see 
also Keenan v. Fearon. 130 N.H. 494, 499 (1988) (“off-
hand invocations” of constitutional rights unsupport-
ed by argument or authority warrant no extended 
consideration). 
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 While the State did not argue that the claim 
under the state constitution had been waived, this 
Court should consider if the omissions from the notice 
of appeal and the brief should have constituted such a 
waiver. This is particularly true as the argument 
presented in the defendant’s brief did not give the 
State fair warning that this Court might decide the 
case on a claim that had not been raised. Thus, under 
this Court’s precedents, the State would have had no 
reason to conclude that the argument was properly 
before it, and therefore no reason to address it in its 
brief. 

 Second, although the Court stated that it was 
relying on the State constitution, its reliance on 
federal case law draws that legal conclusion into 
question. See, e.g., Michigan v. Long, 463 U.S. 1032, 
1040-41 (1983) (“[W]hen, as in this case, a state court 
decision fairly appears to rest primarily on federal 
law, or to be interwoven with the federal law, and 
when the adequacy and independence of any possible 
state law ground is not clear from the face of the 
opinion, we will accept as the most reasonable expla-
nation that the state court decided the case the way it 
did because it believed that federal law required it to 
do so.”). As a result, although this Court wrote that 
the defendant prevailed under the state constitution, 
McKenna, slip Op. at 13, 14, the Long decision draws 
that assertion into question. 

 Third, federal cases draw this Court’s conclusion 
into question. Without repeating the dissent’s re-
counting of the federal cases in the majority opinion, 
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the United States Supreme Court’s ruling in Oregon 
v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492 (1977) (per curiam) ob-
served: 

[A] noncustodial situation is not converted to 
one in which Miranda applies simply be-
cause a reviewing court concludes that, even 
in the absence of any formal arrest or  
restraint on freedom of movement, the ques-
tioning took place in a “coercive environ-
ment.” Any interview of one suspected of a 
crime by a police officer will have coercive 
aspects to it, simply by virtue of the fact that 
the police officer is part of a law enforcement 
system which may ultimately cause the sus-
pect to be charged with a crime. But police 
officers are not required to administer Mi-
randa warnings to everyone whom they 
question. Nor is the requirement of warnings 
to be imposed simply because the question-
ing takes place in the station house, or be-
cause the questioned person is one whom the 
police suspect. Miranda warnings are re-
quired only where there has been such a  
restriction on a person’s freedom as to render 
him “in custody.” It was that sort of coercive 
environment to which Miranda by its terms 
was made applicable, and to which it is lim-
ited. 

Mathiason, 429 U.S. at 495. In this case, this Court 
did exactly what the Mathiason court discouraged: it 
converted a non-custodial interrogation because the 
defendant was a suspect. See, e.g., McKenna, slip op. 
at 10 (“The officers agreed at the suppression hearing 
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that their questions were premised on the assump-
tion that the defendant had committed the crime.”). 

 In light of the Mathiason court’s remarks, it is 
worth considering the fact patterns upon which the 
Miranda decision relied. The Miranda court de-
scribed the fact patterns as follows: 

In each of the cases, the defendant was 
thrust into an unfamiliar atmosphere and 
run through menacing police interrogation 
procedures. The potentiality for compulsion 
is forcefully apparent, for example, in Mi-
randa, where the indigent Mexican defen-
dant was a seriously disturbed individual 
with pronounced sexual fantasies, and in 
Stewart, in which the defendant was an indi-
gent Los Angeles Negro who had dropped out 
of school in the sixth grade. To be sure, the 
records do not evince overt physical coercion 
or patent psychological ploys. The fact re-
mains that in none of these cases did the  
officers undertake to afford appropriate safe-
guards at the outset of the interrogation to 
insure that the statements were truly the 
product of free choice. 

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 457 (1966). 

 In contrast to these scenarios, the officers in this 
case did take steps to ensure that the statements 
would be voluntary and the product of free choice. As 
the superior court found, the officers repeatedly told 
the defendant that he was not under arrest, he was in 
a familiar location, and the only restriction placed on 
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his movement was that the officers did not want him 
to go into the woods. Compare DB App.: 46-47 with 
McKenna, slip op. at 6-7. The difference is, of course, 
that this Court reinterpreted the testimony of the 
officers to equate their unwillingness to go into the 
woods for safety reasons with “interven[ing] to pre-
vent the defendant from freely moving about the 
property.” McKenna, slip op. at 6. In that regard, this 
Court abandoned its deferential review and misap-
plied the Miranda decision in doing so. 

 
C. Failure To Give The Parties A Full-

Panel Argument. 

 In this case, neither party asked the Court for a 
full panel argument. After the 3JX argument, this 
Court concluded that it would refer the case to the 
full panel without further argument. See Order, No. 
2013-0009 (Nov. 25, 2013). While this is permissible 
under Supreme Court Rule 12-D(2)(b), there are 
several reasons that this Court should not have 
adopted this procedure. 

 First, based on this Court’s decision in State v. 
Landry, 146 N.H. 635 (2001), the case does not quali-
fy as a 3JX case. Considering a defendant’s challenge 
to an order designating a case for a 3JX argument, 
this Court wrote: 

If the full complement of three is not in 
agreement, procedures have been established 
to reargue the case before the full court  
on an expedited basis. Moreover, the 3JX 



App. 85 

procedure also provides that, if after argu-
ment, the panel concludes for any reason 
that the case is more appropriate for consid-
eration by the full court, it will likewise be 
referred to the full court for reargument. In 
light of the procedures established specifical-
ly to limit the risk of erroneous deprivation, 
we conclude that there is little if any risk as-
sociated with a three-justice 3JX panel. Ac-
cord State v. Mills, 706 A.2d 953, 955 (Vt. 
1998) (holding constitutional Vermont’s 
‘rocket docket’ employing a three-justice pan-
el rather than the court’s full complement of 
five justices); cf, Ryan Supply Company and 
Consol. Under. v. Brett, 75 So. 2d 721, 721-22 
(Miss. 1954) (upholding nine-member Mis-
sissippi Supreme Court’s power to sit in pan-
els of five). 

Landry, 146 N.H. at 638. 

 Although it may have appeared to both parties 
that the issue raised did not challenge anything other 
than the discretionary ruling by the trial court, by the 
time that this Court had decided the issue involved a 
“close case,” McKenna, slip op. at 12, the parties 
should have been allowed to reargue and even re-
brief the issue. That would have been consistent with 
this Court’s ruling in Landry. Although Landry 
predated the adoption of the rule, it seems to have 
provided the framework for consideration by a 3JX 
panel. Compare Landry, 146 N.H. at 639-40 (discuss-
ing criteria for 3JX case selection) with Sup. Ct. R. 
12-D(5)(a)-(c) (outlining criteria for the same). 
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 In Landry, this Court observed that, in selecting 
3JX cases, it “endeavor[ed] to expedite relatively 
straightforward cases in which the relevant area of 
law is settled, thus providing benefits both to the 
parties, in the form of expedited resolution of their 
issues, and to the public, in the form of the speedier 
treatment of all cases that a reduced backlog affords.” 
Landry, 146 N.H. at 640. Since the majority consid-
ered this a “close case,” and the Court split three-to-
two, it was correct not to consider this case a 3JX 
case, and to expand it to a full panel. Once it did so, 
however, having an expeditious disposition was no 
longer a concern. 

 Given the closeness of the decision, re-argument 
before the full panel was warranted. The procedure 
used by this Court in this case undercuts the purpose 
of an oral argument. As noted above, the briefs did 
not address this Court’s conclusion that the definition 
of custody could be decided under the state constitu-
tion, nor was either party asked that question at the 
3JX argument. Thus, neither party was given the 
opportunity to “make the court want to decide” in its 
favor. F. Coffin, On Appeal 137 (1994); see also W. 
Rehnquist, The Supreme Court: How It Was, How It 
Is 276 (1987) (Oral argument “does make a difference: 
I can think in a significant minority of cases in which 
I have heard oral argument, I have left the bench 
feeling different about the case than I did when I 
came on the bench.”). 
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 Because this Court decided this case without the 
benefit of a full oral argument, and because its opin-
ion in Landry strongly suggests that that is some-
thing this Court should not do, the State respectfully 
requests that this Court reconsider its order. 

 
III. CONCLUSION 

 WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the 
State respectfully asks this Court: 

(1) To reconsider its decision in this case; 
and 

(2) To order re-argument and re-briefing. 

Respectfully submitted, 

THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE  

By its attorneys, 
Joseph A. Foster 
Attorney General 

September 19, 2014 

 /s/ Elizabeth C. Woodcock
  Elizabeth C. Woodcock 

N.H. Bar No.: 18837 
Assistant Attorney General  
Criminal Justice Bureau 
33 Capitol Street 
Concord, N.H. 03301-6397 
(603) 271-3671 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

 I hereby certify that two copies of the foregoing 
were mailed this day, postage prepaid to counsel of 
record at the following addresses: 

Andrew F. Cotrupi, Esq.  
428 Lafayette Road 
Suite 102 
Hampton, NH 03842 

Richard Samdperil, Esq.  
Samdperil & Walsh 
100 High Street 
Exeter, NH 03833 

 Pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 22(1), a copy 
has also been sent to: 

Rockingham County Courthouse  
P.O. Box 1258 
Kingston, NH 03848-1258 

 /s/ Elizabeth C. Woodcock
  Elizabeth C. Woodcock
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